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We help grow and protect
wealth for more than

million customers.

Prudential Financial is one of the largest financial services
companies in the United States. We offer individual

and institutional clients a wide array of financial products




Message from the Chairman

marked another year of excellent progress.

Dear Fellow Shareholders:
In 2004, we continued the successful implementation of our
Prudential Financial business strategy. We now possess a
broad base of well-positioned businesses focused on
growing and protecting wealth, both in the United States
and key countries around the world. Each of our divisions—
Insurance, Investment, and International Insurance and
Investments—made material progress in 2004, while our
capital management activities continue to add
shareholder value. As a result, we are on track
to achieve the goal I set three years ago—to
deliver by the end of 2005 12 percent return
on equity (ROE) based on after-tax adjusted
operating income for the Financial Services
Businesses, a financial measure we use to
analyze our operating performance.*
Our results during the past year
reflect a company that continued to
strengthen its financial perform-
ance. In 2004, on a generally
accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) basis, our Financial
Services Businesses posted net
income of $1.67 billion, or $3.31
per share of Common Stock. That
amounted to a 67 percent year-over-
year increase in earnings per share.
On a before-tax adjusted oper-
ating income basis, our Financial

* See footnote (A) on page 5
and footnote (1) on page 16.

Services Businesses earned $2.50 billion in 2004, and based
on after-tax adjusted operating income, earnings per share
of Common Stock were $3.61, an increase of 43 percent
over 2003.

2004 held its challenges for us, including moderate stock
market performance, low interest rates and continuing global
unrest. In this environment, we delivered solid value for our
shareholders. The price of Prudential Financial's Common
Stock rose almost 32 percent over the 12-month period, com-
pared to a 9 percent gain for the broad market, as measured
by the S&P 500, and a 3 percent gain for the Dow Jones
Industrial Average. That marks the third consecutive year

our stock has outperformed both the S&P 500 and the Dow.

We've created a well-positioned
mix of businesses

Over the last two years, we have strengthened our
domestic operations. Nowhere is that more
evident than in our retirement and annuities busi-
nesses. In terms of earnings, the retirement and
annuities businesses combined have
increased their contribution to Prudential’s
total before-tax adjusted operating
income for the Financial Services
Businesses from 6 percent in 2002 to
30 percent in 2004. This growth
reflects the impact of two large acqui-
sitions we made during that period.
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Earnings per share of
Common Stock on a
GAAP basis were up

percentin 2004.

Our acquisition of American Skandia in May 2003 imme-
diately positioned us in the top 10 in the variable annuities
market, in terms of both sales and assets under manage-
ment. In 2004, Prudential posted more than $6 billion in
gross annuity sales, compared to $5 billion in 2003 and
$2 billion in 2002.

In April 2004, we acquired CIGNA Corporation’s retirement
business. This transaction propelled Prudential to a position
as one of the leading providers of retirement products and
services in the United States. The acquisition substantially
increased our retirement assets under management, doubled
our defined contribution participant base and account values,
and provided complementary capabilities in areas such
as defined benefit administration. We now have the scale and
the broad spectrum of retirement products to better compete
in this arena.

In our individual life insurance business,
sales were up 12 percent over 2003. We
have managed our product portfolio so
that our offerings are both competitive
and appropriately priced. We also
continued to improve productivity
among our agents. All of this was
accompanied by a healthy increase
in individual life insurance’s
adjusted operating income.

In our group insurance business,
we remained committed to our
strategy of controlled growth with an
emphasis on profit margins. Group insur-
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For the second
consecutive year,
we increased our

annual Common Stock

dividend by 25

percent, to 62.5
cents per share.

ance’s new annualized premiums grew 8 percent in 2004, and we

surpassed $1 trillion of group life insurance coverage in force.
We continue to progress toward our goal of being a
top 10 global asset manager. As of December 31, 2004,
Prudential had $500 billion in assets under management,
an increase of 21 percent over year-end 2003. Part of this
growth is attributable to the acquisitions we made
throughout the year, most notably CIGNA, in which
we took on the management of $28 billion of propri-

etary assets.

We've developed a broader
international presence

In 2004, we continued to strengthen our presence in
key countries around the globe, both through organic
growth and acquisitions. Our International Insurance
and Investments Division continues to represent a signifi-
cant share of our overall operations, accounting for 40
percent of Prudential’s before-tax adjusted operating income

for the Financial Services Businesses.

International insurance once again performed exception-
ally well in 2004. Before-tax adjusted operating income was
up 12 percent, and our policies in force outside the United
States are now in excess of 6.7 million.

The cornerstone of those results is our Life Planner busi-
ness model, which employs well-educated, highly trained pro-
fessionals to sell life insurance in Japan, Korea, Taiwan and
other countries around the world. Our 13-month policy
persistency rate for our Life Planner business is 93 percent,
12-month Life Planner retention averages 73 percent, and
from 1999 to 2004 our Life Planner force has grown annually
at a double-digit rate, and our annualized new business pre-
miums have grown proportionally.

Gibraltar Life, the traditional Japanese insurance business that
we acquired in 2001, has been an impressive story as well.

Adjusted operating income was up 9 percent in 2004. Our
Life Advisors average 3.7 policies sold per month,
higher than the average of the top five com-
petitors in Japan.

In November 2004, we acquired another
book of life insurance business in Japan,
Aoba Life, which added approximately
350,000 life insurance policies to our

Life Planner business in that country.
Our international investments oper-
ations have benefited from the solid
performance of Hyundai Investment
and Securities, which we acquired in

February 2004, leading to overall

improved results.



In March 2004, our joint venture with
Everbright Securities Company received
an operational license from the China
Securities Regulatory Commission, and
four months later we launched our first
mutual fund product there. The
venture gives us an entry point into the
enormous potential of China’s invest-
ment marketplace.

We've expanded our multi-

channel distribution platform

While our proprietary agent force remains our
primary sales channel in the United States for life
insurance, the bulk of our sales growth is increasingly
coming through independent financial professionals and other
third-party distributors. In 2004, we grew third-party sales of indi-
vidual life insurance products by 40 percent. We believe that with
our strong brand, we can build on that growth going forward.

With our acquisition of American Skandia, we are now one
of the leading providers of variable annuities through inde-
pendent financial planners. We also created a fixed annuity
product specifically for Wachovia Bank, where we are now the
No. 3 provider of annuities.

In our managed accounts platform, assets under administra-
tion surpassed $41 billion in 2004—double the amount for 2003.
A large portion of this increase is the result of an agreement
associated with our joint venture with Wachovia Securities.

We've continued effective capital

and expense management

While we are committed to improving Prudential’s operating per-
formance, we are also highly focused on maintaining
our financial strength. In 2004, we reinvested capital in acquisi-
tions that have helped us improve our return on equity. Even after
these acquisitions, our balance sheet and capital position con-
tinue to be consistent with our ratings objectives. We also met
our expense management targets. As part of our overall capital
management, we have been able to return value to our share-
holders through share repurchases and increased dividends.

Over the last two years, we have invested nearly $4 billion in
acquisitions, including American Skandia, CIGNA retirement,
Hyundai Investment and Aoba Life. For the second consecutive
year, we increased our annual Common Stock dividend by
25 percent, to 62.5 cents per share. In addition, we repurchased
$1.5 billion in Common Stock.

We were rewarded for our strong financial results and our
strengthened balance sheet with upgrades from three major
ratings agencies. In 2004, Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s Investors
Service and A.M. Best all upgraded Prudential’s insurance finan-

We have built a
strong foundation
for growth and are

better positioned than
ever to capitalize on
opportunities in the
marketplace.

cial strength ratings—to AA- (Very Strong),
Aa3 (Excellent) and A+ (Superior),
respectively. We intend to maintain
these ratings levels by continuing to
manage our capital to strict standards
while growing our earnings.

We've positioned ourselves
for double-digit growth
I'm pleased with the performance
our company delivered in 2004.

More importantly, the actions we have
taken have strengthened our long-term

growth prospects.

We have the right mix of businesses to help people
grow and protect their wealth—insurance, investments, annu-
ities, retirement services and asset management. We will con-
tinue to build on those capabilities. We have well-diversified
sources of earnings, which can help us prosper under difficult
market conditions. We will continue to focus on the quality and
consistency of those earnings. We strengthened our position in
selective international markets. We will continue to focus on this
in 2005. We substantially increased sales of our insurance and
annuities products through third parties. We will continue to look
for opportunities to expand our distribution platform. We have
deployed a greater amount of capital in our higher-return busi-
nesses, namely in our international, retirement and annuities
businesses. In 2005, we will continue to allocate capital in line
with market opportunities, including making acquisitions where
they make sense. Our employees continued to demonstrate their
deep commitment to Prudential and to growing our business. 1
am confident that this unyielding commitment will continue in
2005 and beyond.

As we enter 2005, we are well-positioned not only
to reach our goal of 12 percent ROE, but also to deliver double-
digit growth in earnings and earnings per share, as measured
by adjusted operating income. We have built a strong founda-
tion for growth and are better positioned than ever to capitalize
on opportunities in the marketplace.

We are excited about our future, and on behalf of everyone
at Prudential, I want to thank you, our shareholders, for your
confidence and support. e

ARTHUR F. RYAN

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Financial highlights

Financial Services Businesses
In millions, except per share amounts

For the years ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
RESULTS BASED ON AD JUSTED OPERATING INCOME (A)
Revenues $ 19,985 $ 18,108 $ 18,141
Benefits and expenses 17,478 16,134 16,401
Adjusted operating income before income taxes $ 2,507 $ 1,974 $ 1,740
Operating return on average equity (B) 10.16% 7.55% 6.35%
GAAP RESULTS
Revenues $ 20117 $ 19,906 $ 19157
Benefits and expenses 17,745 18,297 18,318
Income from continuing operations before income taxes,
extraordinary gain on acquisition and cumulative effect
of accounting change $ 2,372 $ 1,609 $ 839
Return on average equity (B) 8.95% 5.48% 3.95%
EARNINGS PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK - diluted
Adjusted operating income after income taxes $ 3.61 $ 2.53 $ 2.07
Reconciling items:
Investment gains (losses), net (0.06) (0.36) (1.50)
Other reconciling items (0.20) (0.30) (0.06)
Tax benefit on above 0.10 0.21 0.87
Income from continuing operations (after-tax) before
extraordinary gain on acquisition and cumulative effect
of accounting change $ 3.45 $ 2.08 $ 1.38
Consolidated Information
In millions, unless otherwise noted
As of or for the years ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
GAAP RESULTS
Total revenues $ 28,348 $ 27888 $ 26278
Income (loss) after income taxes:
Continuing operations before extraordinary gain on
acquisition and cumulative effect of accounting change  $ 2,332 $ 1,322 $ 270
Impact of discontinued operations, extraordinary gain on
acquisition and cumulative effect of accounting change $ (76) $ (58) $ (76)
Net income (loss):
Financial Services Businesses $ 1,674 $ 1,025 $ 679
Closed Block Business 582 239 (485)
Consolidated net income $ 2,256 $ 1,264 $ 194
FINANCIAL POSITION
Invested assets $ 216,624 $ 181,041 $ 183,208
Total assets $ 401,058 $ 321,274 $ 292,616
Attributed equity:
Financial Services Businesses $ 21,209 $ 20,340 $ 20,562
Closed Block Business 1,135 952 768
Total equity $ 22,344 $ 21,292 $ 21,330
Assets under management (in billions) $ 500 $ 114 $ 378
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Financial Services Businesses
Adjusted Operating Income® and
Income from Continuing Operations
(pre-tax, in millions)

. Adjusted operating income

Income from continuing operations
before income taxes, extraordinary
gain on acquisition and cumulative
effect of accounting change (GAAP)

2002 2003 2004

$2,500 —

$2,000 —

$1,500 —

$1,000 —

$500 —

Assets Under Management

(in billions)
$500 -
$400 -
$300 -
$200 -
$100 -
2002 2003 2004

Financial Services Businesses
Adjusted Operating Revenues”
and GAAP Revenues
(in billions)

. Adjusted operating revenues

Revenues (GAAP)

$20 -

$15 -
$10 -
$5 -

2002 2003 2004

Financial Services Businesses
Operating Return on Average Equity
and Return on Average Equity®

(B)

. Operating return on average equity

Return on average equity
10% —
8% —
6% —
4% -
2% —
2002

2003 2004

(A) Adjusted operating income is a
non-GAAP measure that excludes
net realized investment gains and
losses (other than those associated
with terminating hedges of foreign
currency earnings and current
period vyield adjustments), and
related charges and adjustments;
net investment gains and losses on
trading account assets supporting
insurance liabilities; change in expe-
rience-rated contractholder liabili-
ties due to asset value changes;
results of divested businesses and
discontinued operations; individual
life insurance sales practices reme-
dies and costs; cumulative effect of
accounting change; extraordinary
gain on acquisition; and the related
tax effects thereof. Revenues and
benefits and expenses shown as
components of adjusted operating
income are presented on the same
basis and exclude these items as
well. See Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations for further
discussion of adjusted operating
results and the Consolidated
Financial Statements for a reconcilia-
tion of results based on adjusted
operating income to GAAP results.

(B) Operating return on average
equity is calculated by dividing
adjusted operating income after
income taxes by average attributed
equity for the Financial Services
Businesses excluding unrealized
gains and losses on investments.
An alternative measure to oper-
ating return on average equity is
return on average equity. Return
on average equity is calculated by
dividing income from continuing
operations by average total attrib-
uted equity for the Financial
Services Businesses. Both income
amounts above give effect to the
direct equity adjustment for earn-
ings per share calculation.

Prudential Financial 2004 Annual Report 5



The positive results we achieved in
2004 stemmed in large part from actions
we've taken in our first three years
as a public company to strengthen our
core businesses and seize potential
growth opportunities.

Our domestic protection businesses—
individual life and group insurance—
each contributed to our earnings
improvement, reflecting steps taken to
increase our productivity and make us
more competitive in today’s marketplace.

We have enhanced our position in the
U.S. retirement and annuities markets
through two acquisitions, both of which
contributed to our strong earnings. In

integration of American Skandia into our
annuities business. We also acquired the
retirement business of CIGNA, which has
significantly bolstered our presence in
this fast-growing market.

In all of our insurance businesses, our first priority is
protecting people’s financial security. Prudential life insurance
policies protect millions of individuals in the United States.

We take that commitment seriously. In 2004, we paid out
almost $2.5 billion in death benefits to the beneficiaries of our
U.S. individual life policyholders. And we have taken a number
of important steps to strengthen our domestic individual life
insurance business.

Before-tax adjusted operating income for
our individual life insurance business in 2004
was $390 million, a $33 million increase over
2003. Sales of our individual life insurance
products, excluding corporate-owned life
insurance, grew 15 percent to $391 million.

We delivered nearly

2004, we substantially completed the ?

ey B 4T
billion in individual
life insurance benefits

insurance business has been growing third-party sales, and we
continued to deepen our penetration of this distribution channel
in 2004. Much of our strong sales growth is attributable to third-
party channels. Sales of our individual life insurance products
through these channels were up 40 percent over 2003.

This reflects our ongoing efforts to strengthen our relation-
ships with some of the premier financial services distribution
firms in the industry. By leveraging our strong brand and pene-

We earned ratings upgrades from 3 agencies

In 2004, three major ratings agencies upgraded Prudential's insurance
financial strength ratings. Standard & Poor's upgraded our rating to

AA- (Very Strong), A.M. Best gave us an A+ (Superior) rating and

Third-party individual life insurance
sales were up 40 percent

The majority of our individual life insurance
sales continued to come from Prudential agents,
and sales through this channel increased in
2004. A key objective for our individual life
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Moody's Investors Service upgraded us to Aa3 (Excellent).

In addition to affirming the claims-paying ability of our life insurance
business, the upgrades enhance the attractiveness of our products in
the marketplace and improve our position with third-party distributors.



our simplified Life' Xpress-worksheet
means Prudential agents like Brian
Kazinec can now initiate the life insurance
underwriting process more quickly.

trating profitable new distribution channels, we intend to con-
tinue growing third-party sales of our individual life insurance
products in 2005.

Universal life insurance sales grew 35 percent

We maintained a healthy mix of products in our individual
life insurance portfolio. In 2004, our universal life insurance
products led the way, with a 35 percent increase in sales
over 2003, reflecting the market’s current emphasis on that
product line and the traction of Prudential’s universal life
insurance products in particular.

We continue our practice of routinely evaluating and
repricing our individual life insurance products, when appro-
priate, to make them more competitive in the marketplace. One
result of this effort in 2004 was a 5 percent year-over-year
increase in term life sales.

Sales of our variable life insurance prod-
ucts were relatively stable for the year. Our
sales results show that we are not reliant on
any one product.

We deliver underwriting

decisions within 72 hours

We understand that customer satisfaction is
directly related to how easy it is to do busi-
ness with us. In 2004, we made significant
service enhancements in individual life
insurance to ensure that it’s easier than ever
for our clients, our agents and our distribu-
tion partners to do business with us.

We improved Prudential Xpress, our Web-
based platform that gives third-party distrib-
utors sophisticated tools and information to
market Prudential individual life insurance
products and initiate business with us. In
addition, we introduced a simplified one-
page Life Xpress application worksheet for
our agents. The worksheet can now be sub-
mitted online, which means the underwriting
process is initiated more quickly, saving time
for both our clients and our agents. We also
enhanced our case status system. Now our
agents are automatically notified of under-
writing decisions within 72 hours of
receiving the medical requirements.

Our surveys indicate that these enhance-
ments have helped to improve our service
delivery in the eyes of our customers. The
vast majority of clients who did business
with us in 2004 were very satisfied with the
accuracy and timeliness of our service.

We surpassed $1 trillion in group life insurance in force
Prudential has long been a dominant presence in the group
life insurance market. We now provide more than $1 trillion
of group life insurance coverage to America’s workforce, a
claim few other companies can make.

With about 13,000 life policies covering more than 14 million
lives, we count some of the largest, most respected companies in
the world among our clients. More than 70 Fortune 500 compa-
nies and one-quarter of Fortune 100 firms have turned to us for
their group insurance needs.

According to our most recent client satisfaction survey,
93 percent of our clients were satisfied with Prudential as
their provider of group life benefits. And our policy persis-
tency ratio on group life remains strong at 94 percent.
In fact, we have clients who have been with us for more
than 75 years. e
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Today’s U.S. retirement market
is estimated at $19 trillion. During the
next decade and a half, 76 million people
in the baby boom generation will be
moving into retirement—more than at
any time in American history. And the
retirement market is expected to reach
$39 trillion by 2012. That presents a sig-
nificant growth opportunity for
Prudential Financial’s retirement and
annuities businesses.

Over the last two years, we have
added considerable scale and breadth
to both our retirement and annuities
businesses. These two businesses
combined have increased their contri-
bution to our total before-tax adjusted
operating income for the Financial
Services Businesses from 6 percent
in 2002 to 30 percent in 2004. And
the account values in our retirement
and annuity products have more
than doubled from 2002 to 2004, to
$181 billion. Much of this growth
reflects two acquisitions we made
during that time period—that of
American Skandia and CIGNA’s retire-
ment business.

We have 2 million defined
contribution plan participants

We acquired CIGNA’s retirement busi-
ness in April 2004. The acquisition sub-
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biIIion of their retirement
and annuity assets

Gean Martin is one of the
76 million members of the
baby boom generation
moving into retirement.



stantially increased our retirement assets to $130 billion,
more than doubled our defined contribution recordkeeping
account values to $67 billion, and doubled our defined
contribution plan participants to 2 million at more than
5,000 institutions.

The acquisition also broadened both our distribution plat-
form and our market penetration. Prior to the acquisition,
most of our sales activity was generated by our own sales
force and concentrated on retirement plans for small compa-
nies and not-for-profit organizations. The CIGNA deal added
capabilities in the large company 401(k) market as well as a
new distribution channel, retirement and invest-
ment brokers and consultants.

We're a top-10 provider
of variable annuities

Our annuity business was
strengthened by the acqui-

The U.S. retirement
and annuity markets
hold strong growth
prospects over the long
term, and we are better
positioned than ever to
meet the growing needs

of this market.

sition of American Skandia in 2003. The acquisition pro-
pelled us to a leadership position in the annuity market.
Prior to the addition of American Skandia, account values
in our annuities business were $19 billion. At the end
of 2004, they totaled $51 billion. And gross sales of our
annuity products grew from $2 billion in 2002 to more than
$6 billion in 2004. We are now a top-10 provider of variable
annuities in the U.S. market, in terms of sales and assets
under management.

We have also significantly increased our distribution capa-
bility. Because American Skandia is one of the leading providers
of variable annuities through independent financial planners in

the United States, we now have a well-established third-party

channel through which to distribute our annuity prod-
ucts—a channel we were not active in prior to the
acquisition. While Prudential agents will continue
to be an important distribution arm for us, 76
percent of our annuity sales now come
through third parties.

While more than 90 percent of our
sales are in variable annuities, fixed
annuities provide an important balance
to our portfolio. In 2004, we created a
fixed annuity product exclusively for
Wachovia Bank. As of the end of 2004, we

were the No. 3 seller of annuity products
through the bank.
The U.S. retirement and annuity markets
hold strong growth prospects over the long term,
and we are better positioned than ever to meet the
growing needs of this market. o

Our defined contribution plans
won 24 ‘Best In Class’ awards

When it comes to delivering retirement plan services, we earn
high marks from plan sponsors. In PLANSPONSOR magazine's
2004 defined contribution services survey, Prudential won

24 "Best In Class" awards across an array of categories in three
plan sizes—small, middle and large.

The Best In Class awards are given to those providers who earn
top-quartile scores within each service category. The services we
provide plan participants were highly regarded, especially in the
areas of the range of investment options we offer, the value of our
communications materials and the timeliness of our reporting.
And plan sponsors said we excelled in such categories as the
expertise of our account representatives, our responsiveness to
questions and our compliance with investment policy. We continue
to raise the bar in terms of product features and service support.
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We manage

The depth and breadth of our investment capabilities, and
the broad diversification of our asset sources have helped us make progress

billion in assets

in the asset management arena.

At the end of 2004, we held $500 billion in assets under management, an

increase of 21 percent over year-end 2003.

Net inflows from institutional clients totaled $10 billion

With almost $120 billion in assets under management from institutional
clients at year-end 2004, Prudential has a strong presence in the institutional
investment marketplace. Net inflows in our institutional investment busi-
ness totaled nearly $10 billion, with increases in the equity, fixed income and

real estate asset classes.

We are one of the largest fixed income managers in the United States,

10

Prudential Real Estate sales
volume hit $185 billion

For the fourth straight year, home sales in the United
States hit record highs. In 2004, more than 6.6 million
homes were sold nationwide.

Prudential Real Estate had a banner year as well, with
$185 billion in network sales volume, $31 billion higher
than in 2003. It added 100 agencies and 8,000 sales pro-
fessionals to its franchise network, which is now more
than 58,000 strong.
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In 2004, we enhanced our clients’ home search capabili-
ties by acquiring eRealty, a Web-based real estate trans-
action services provider. By incorporating eRealty's
proprietary technology onto our platform, we now offer
clients a single source for all available home listings in
their market through www.prudential.com.

We also signed an exclusive multi-year marketing agree-
ment with Yahoo!. Visitors to the Yahoo! Real Estate site,
which average 2 million a month, are connected directly
to comprehensive real estate listing information from a

Prudential Real Estate broker in the area.



We are one of
the largest fixed
and we built on our success in 2004, Income managers |n tion in our managed accounts

especially in the alternative investment

platform, to $41 billion, largely

products market. We added more than the Un|ted States, and due to our assumption of

$2.8 billion in assets under management

administrative responsibility

in collateralized debt obligations. we b ul |t on our for Wachovia Securities cus-

We increased assets in our managed
account platform by 109 percent
Managed accounts are one of the fastest-growing
segments of the retail marketplace. Prudential’s
managed account business, which provides access to more
than 60 professional money managers as well as individually
managed accounts and mutual funds, is well positioned to
capitalize on that growth.

In 2004, we more than doubled the assets under administra-

success in 2004. tomer accounts.

In our retail investment busi-

nesses, we have a robust platform

for advice-giving and research; high-

quality investment managers to support a

proprietary fund family; and an established

family of subadvised funds that is well-adapted to meet the

needs of advisors who opt not to use proprietary-managed

funds. We believe these are the tools we will need to compete
in tomorrow’s retail marketplace.
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There is no question that the international
marketplace offers the potential for faster
growth than the U.S. market. In 2004,
Prudential’s international operations con-
tinued to perform and are well-positioned to
capitalize on future opportunities.

In our international insurance businesses,
we continued in 2004 to differentiate our-
selves with our client-centered distribution
systems and our focus on providing quality
protection products.

In our international investments operations,
we're seeing results from our acquisition in
February 2004 of Hyundai Investment and
Securities, which has enhanced our ability to
serve retail and institutional clients alike in
the Korean market.

We believe we're poised to seize new oppor-
tunities that will capitalize on our strengths
and broaden our presence in the countries
where we choose to do business.

International
Insurance garnered

oLt

million in
annualized new
business premiums
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Our International Insurance business remains
a significant growth engine for the company. In 2004,
before-tax adjusted operating income increased 12 percent
over 2003 and contributed 37 percent of Prudential’s
before-tax adjusted operating income for the Financial
Services Businesses.

Key to International Insurance’s success is its unique Life
Planner business model, which relies on a distribution force
composed of well-educated, highly trained sales profes-
sionals, selling protection life insurance products to an
affluent clientele via a needs-based approach. This model
gives us a competitive advantage in the eight countries
where we've deployed it, most notably in Japan and Korea.

Our Life Planner operations have a proven track record of
double-digit growth. From 1999 to 2004, annualized new
business premiums, on a constant currency basis, grew at a
double-digit annual compound rate, as did the number of
individual policies in force.

We also offer life insurance products to the broad middle-
income market across Japan, using a more traditional distri-
bution model through our force of Life Advisors, who are
employed by Gibraltar Life, a company we acquired in 2001.
Since then, we've implemented some of the successful fea-
tures of our Life Planner business model at Gibraltar, helping
to spur improvements in Life Advisor productivity.

The combination of these two approaches gives us
more ways to serve customers in a market with solid
growth potential.

We now have an international
field force exceeding 10,000
To continue to expand our market share, it’s important that
we increase the number of Life Planners we have, some-
thing we have done for six straight years. In 2004, our
Life Planner force surpassed 5,300, compared with
just under 5,000 at year-end 2003. In fact, from 1999

The high rates of both Life Planner retention and policy
persistency that we have achieved point to the caliber of our
field force and the quality of the sales they make. Across all
eight countries where we operate—Japan, Korea, Taiwan,

Italy, the Philippines, Poland, Brazil and Argentina—12-
month Life Planner retention averaged 73 percent, and policy
persistency, based on face amount, averaged an impressive 93

percent after 13 months.
Gibraltar Life also has developed a strong field force. Since
acquiring the company, we have devoted considerable resources
toward recruiting, training and improving the productivity of Gibraltar’s
nearly 5,000 Life Advisors. These efforts are getting results. Since
becoming a Prudential company, Gibraltar has significantly increased
both Life Advisor productivity and policy persistency. Gibraltar’s

- to 2004, our Life Planner force grew at a com-
pound rate of 13 percent a year.




Prudential ofi Japan’s
NackoelHasegawalis,one of
more thian 10,000} sales
profiessionals throughout

our Internatiqnal
Istrzigles godrzitions,

Life Advisor 13-month policy persistency, based on face
amount, averaged almost 94 percent at the end of 2004,
among the highest in the industry.

We're committed to our Life Planner and Life Advisor distribu-
tion models because they work. We remain focused on protection
products because that's what our clients need. We employ strict
financial discipline in each of our international insurance busi-
nesses so we generate significantly more capital than we need to
operate our businesses, enhancing our financial flexibility.

In countries like Japan, Korea and Taiwan, where we already
have established businesses, we’ll continue to deploy capital to
expand our operations organically. In addition, we will pursue
opportunistic acquisitions when appropriate—where they offer
attractive returns and add to our scale, our presence and our
capabilities in the markets in which we have chosen to operate.

Our Life

I Planner operations
have a proven track
record of double-
digit growth.

We're the No. 1 foreign-owned asset manager in Korea
The international investments business reported before-tax
adjusted operating income of $86 million, a substantial gain
over 2003. Prudential Investment & Securities Company, for-
merly known as Hyundai Investment and Securities Co., a
Korean investment firm we acquired in February 2004, con-
tributed much of the increase. The acquisition made Prudential
the largest foreign-owned asset manager in Korea, based on
assets under management.

We entered China’s 1.3 billion strong marketplace
With one of the fastest-growing economies in the world, a pop-
ulation of 1.3 billion and the largest share of foreign direct
investments, China is one of the most attractive emerging
markets for the investment fund management business.
Our joint venture with Shanghai-based Everbright
Securities Co.—one of the leading financial services compa-
nies in the country—gives us an entry point into the enor-
mous potential of China’s investment marketplace.
In March 2004, Everbright Pramerica Fund
Management, as the joint venture is now
called, received an operational license from
the China  Securities  Regulatory
Commission. Four months later, we
launched our first mutual fund product
there, which raised more than $300
million in the one-month issuing period.
In 2005 we plan to expand our offerings
for China’s retail and institutional investors
by building a diversified product line that is
adaptable to changing market conditions. e

Prudential of Japan gained 350,000
policies through acquisition

We further strengthened our position in the
Japanese life insurance market in late 2004 when we
acquired Aoba Life Insurance Company, Ltd. Adding
Aoba'’s business to our existing insurance operations
in Japan—Prudential of Japan and Gibraltar Life—
makes Prudential the largest foreign-owned life
insurance operation in the country, based on face
amount in force.

Through the acquisition of Aoba, we boosted our
assets by $6 billion and added approximately
350,000 individual insurance policies to our book of
business. We also expect to realize cost savings
through the consolidation of overlapping functions
and office locations.
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Ignace Conic was one of 10 Prudential employees
who took time out of their busxchedules to bring
the book "The Little Red Hen" to life for 100 children
at the Friendly Fuld Neighborhood Center in Newark,
N.J., a Prudential Foundation grant recipient.

The concept of “community” is at the heart of Prudential.
That’s because we're in the business of helping people—to grow and
protect their wealth, to build secure futures and to protect their
loved ones.

We believe it’s also our business to invest in a better
- quality of life in the communities where we live and work.
Through Prudential’s Community Resources group, we
coordinate grants, social investments, employee volun-
teerism and strategic partnerships that build more pro-
'- ductive, economically empowered neighborhoods and

cities around the world.
Since 1977, The Prudential Foundation, the company’s
nonprofit grant-making unit, has been promoting community
- revitalization through targeted donations. In 2004, the
Foundation provided grants totaling more than $23 million to

hundreds of organizations around the country.

The Foundation channels its grants through three
distinct program areas. The Ready to Learn program funds initia-
tives that strengthen public school education. The Ready to Work
program targets organizations that increase employment opportuni-
ties by fostering neighborhood economic development and helping
individuals improve job-related skills. The Ready to Live program
promotes community well-being through initiatives that help build
healthy families and support the development of young people.
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This three-pronged approach enables The Prudential
Foundation to direct grants to organizations that share its
commitment to improving the self-sufficiency of families
and the future prospects of America’s children.

We've made $1 billion in social investments
Through our Social Investment Program, we build
stronger communities by providing much-needed
financing to organizations that improve access to afford-
able housing, community services, minority entrepre-
neurial opportunities and education. In 2004, the Social
Investment Program provided nearly $80 million in
loans, helping to finance such projects as inner-city
supermarkets, minority-owned businesses and charter
schools in 500 cities and 40 states across the country.

Last year, the program celebrated a historic milestone:
$1 billion in cumulative investments addressing critical
social issues, making the program one of the largest of its
type in the United States.

32,500 employees and friends

turn out to lend a hand

Prudential donates more than just money to communities.
For 10 years, our employees around the world have put
their commitment to volunteerism into action during our
annual Prudential Global Volunteer Day. On October 2,
2004, more than 32,500 employees, their family members
and friends participated in 1,057 projects in all 50 states
and 16 other countries.

We encourage our employees to give back to their communities
year-round. Through our Personal Volunteer Day program,
employees are able to take one paid day off each year to volunteer
with a charitable organization that is personally meaningful to them.
In all, our employees donated more than 242,000 volunteer hours in
2004, further demonstrating their commitment to supporting the
communities where we live and work.

We've honored 55,000 young volunteers

For the last decade, we have encouraged today’s youth to volun-
teer their time and talents to help revitalize their communities
through The Prudential Spirit of Community Awards. Created in
partnership with the National Association of Secondary School
Principals, the program recognizes students in grades 5 through
12 for their exemplary commitment to volunteer service.

Since its inception, the program has honored more than 55,000
school-age children at the local, state and national levels for
making a difference in their communities, has become the United
States’ largest youth recognition program based solely on volun-
teer service, and has expanded to Japan, Korea and Taiwan.

Our business is global, but our philanthropic efforts
show that Prudential’s roots are deeply embedded in
local communities. e

We're among Fortune's 50 Best
Companies for Minorities

At Prudential, we recognize that each of our
employees brings a unique set of talents and
insights to work. The combination of these
diverse perspectives and strengths gives us a
competitive advantage.

We're committed to encouraging diversity in
every aspect of our operations, because we know
that to win in the global marketplace, we must
win in the workplace. By fostering a work environ-
ment where diversity is valued and innovation
applauded, we'll continue to attract and retain tal-
ented individuals who will help us deliver the
quality financial services the global marketplace
demands and the results our shareholders expect.

In 2004, our efforts to promote diversity in our
work force were once again recognized.

Most Admired Companies
Insurance, Life and Health category
Fortune

America’s 50 Best Companies
for Minorities
Fortune

Top 10 Companies for Working Mothers
Working Mother

Top 100 Companies for Providing
Opportunities for Hispanics
Hispanic Magazine

Great Places to Work for Women of Color
FEssence

Top 50 Employers
Careers & the disAbled Magazine

Top 10 Companies for Executive Women
National Association for Female Executives

Top 50 Companies for Diversity
Diversitylnc.

50 Best Companies for Latinas to
Work for in the U.S.

Latina Style

100 Percent Score on
the Corporate Equality Index
Human Rights Campaign
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Prudential Officers and Directors

Executive Officers
Arthur F. Ryan
Chairman, Chief Executive
Officer and President

Vivian Banta
Vice Chairman
Insurance Division

Mark B. Grier
Vice Chairman
Financial Management

Rodger A. Lawson

Vice Chairman
International Insurance and
Investments Division

John R. Strangfeld Jr.
Vice Chairman
Investment Division

Robert C. Golden
Executive Vice President
Operations and Systems

Richard J. Carbone
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

John M. Liftin
Senior Vice President and
General Counsel

Sharon C. Taylor
Senior Vice President
Human Resources

Board of Directors
Frederic K. Becker

President, Wilentz,
Goldman & Spitzer, P.A.

Gordon M. Bethune
(effective 2/1/05)

Former Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
Continental Airlines, Inc.

Gaston Caperton
President, The College
Board

Gilbert F. Casellas
Attorney and Former
Chairman, U.S. Equal
Employment Opportunity
Commission

James G. Cullen
Retired President and
Chief Operating Officer
Bell Atlantic Corporation

William H. Gray III
Retired President and
Chief Executive Officer
The College Fund/UNCF

Jon F. Hanson
Chairman, The
Hampshire Companies

Glen H. Hiner
Former Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
Owens Corning

Constance J. Horner
Guest Scholar, The
Brookings Institution

Karl J. Krapek

Retired President and Chief
Operating Officer, United
Technologies Corporation

Arthur F. Ryan
Chairman of the Board,
CEO and President
Prudential Financial, Inc.

Ida F. S. Schmertz
Founder and Chair
Microleasing LLC

James A. Unruh
Founding Principal, Alerion
Capital Group, L.L.C.

(1) We measure this goal based on after-tax adjusted operating income and attributed equity of our Financial Services Businesses.
Adjusted operating income, which is not measured in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), excludes
net realized investment gains and losses, other than those associated with terminating hedges of foreign currency earnings and
current period yield adjustments. A significant element of realized losses is impairments and losses from sales of credit-impaired
securities, the timing of which depends largely on market credit cycles and can vary considerably across periods. The timing of
other sales that would result in gains or losses is largely subject to our discretion and influenced by market opportunities. Similarly,
adjusted operating income excludes investment gains and losses on trading account assets supporting insurance liabilities and
changes in experience-rated contractholder liabilities due to asset value changes, because these recorded changes in asset and lia-
bility values will ultimately inure to contractholders. Trends in the underlying profitability of our businesses can be more clearly
identified without the fluctuating effects of these transactions. Adjusted operating income also excludes the results of divested
businesses, which are not relevant to our ongoing operations, and certain other items, described elsewhere herein. Because we do
not predict future realized investment gains (losses) or recorded changes in asset and liability values that will ultimately inure to
contractholders, we cannot provide a measure of our goal based on income from continuing operations of the Financial Services
Businesses, which is the GAAP measure most comparable to adjusted operating income.

Some of the statements included in this Annual Report may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the U.S.
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Please see page 176 for a description of certain risks and uncertainties that could
cause actual results to differ, possibly materially, from expectations or estimates reflected in such forward-looking statements.

All facts and figures as of December 31, 2004, unless otherwise noted.

“Prudential Financial”®, “The Rock”®, Prudential @ Financial® and “Growing and Protecting Your Wealth”® are registered
service marks of The Prudential Insurance Company of America.

Prudential Real Estate brokerage services are offered by the franchisees of Prudential Real Estate Affiliates, Inc. Most fran-
chises are independently owned and operated. Equal Housing Opportunity.

Securities products offered by Pruco Securities, LLC, Prudential Investment Management Services, LLC, American Skandia
Marketing, Incorporated and Prudential Equity Group (all members SIPC).

Insurance issued by The Prudential Insurance Company of America, Pruco Life Insurance Company (in New York by Pruco
Life Insurance Company of New Jersey), Prudential Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company and American Skandia Life
Assurance Corporation.

All are Prudential Financial companies, and each is responsible for its own financial condition and contractual obligations.

16 Prudential Financial 2004 Annual Report



Financial Section

Prudential Financial 2004 Annual Report 17



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
Number
Selected Financial Data . . . .. .. .o 19
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ... .................. 21
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk .. ......... ... ... . . .. . . . . . . 86
Consolidated Financial Statements:
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting .. ........... ... .. ... .... 91
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm .. ........ . . i 92
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 . ........... ... ... ..... 94
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 ............ 95
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 .. .. 96
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 ............ 97
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . . . .. ... ...ttt e e 98
Supplemental Combining Financial Information ........... ... .. . . . i 172
Market For Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters . ............. ..., 175
Forward-LooKing Statements . . .. ... ... ...ttt ittt et e e e e 176
SEC and NYSE Certifications . . .. ... ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e 176

Throughout this Annual Report, “Prudential Financial” refers to Prudential Financial, Inc., the ultimate holding
company for all of our companies. “Prudential Insurance” refers to The Prudential Insurance Company of America,
before and after its demutualization on December 18, 2001. “Prudential,” the “Company,” “we’ and “our” refer to our
consolidated operations before and after demutualization.

Financial Services Businesses and Closed Block Business

Effective with the date of demutualization, we established the Financial Services Businesses and the Closed Block
Business. The Financial Services Businesses refer to the businesses in our three operating divisions and our Corporate and
Other operations. The Insurance division consists of our Individual Life and Annuities and Group Insurance segments. The
Investment division consists of our Asset Management, Financial Advisory and Retirement segments. The International
Insurance and Investments division consists of our International Insurance and International Investments segments. The
Common Stock reflects the performance of the Financial Services Businesses, but there can be no assurance that the market
value of the Common Stock will reflect solely the financial performance of these businesses. The Class B Stock, which was
issued in a private placement on the date of the demutualization, reflects the financial performance of the Closed Block
Business, as defined in Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

We allocate all of our assets, liabilities and earnings between the Financial Services Businesses and Closed Block
Business as if they were separate legal entities, but there is no legal separation between these two businesses. Holders of both
the Common Stock and the Class B Stock are common stockholders of Prudential Financial and, as such, are subject to all
the risks associated with an investment in Prudential Financial and all of its businesses. The Common Stock and the Class B
Stock will be entitled to dividends, if and when declared by Prudential Financial’s Board of Directors from funds legally
available to pay them, as if the businesses were separate legal entities. See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for a discussion of liquidation rights of the Common Stock and the Class B Stock, dividend restrictions on the Common
Stock if we do not pay dividends on the Class B Stock when there are funds legally available to pay them and conversion
rights of the Class B Stock.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

We derived the selected consolidated income statement data for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 and
the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 from our Consolidated Financial Statements
included elsewhere herein. We derived the selected consolidated income statement data for the years ended December 31,
2001 and 2000 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 from consolidated
financial statements not included herein.

On April 1, 2004, we acquired the retirement business of CIGNA Corporation. Results for 2004 include results of that
business from the date of acquisition.

On May 1, 2003, we acquired Skandia U.S. Inc., which included American Skandia, Inc. Results presented below
include results of American Skandia from the date of acquisition.

On July 1, 2003, we completed an agreement with Wachovia Corporation, or Wachovia, to combine each company’s
respective retail securities brokerage and clearing operations forming a joint venture, Wachovia Securities. We have a 38%
ownership interest in the joint venture, while Wachovia owns the remaining 62%. The transaction included our securities
brokerage operations but did not include our equity sales, trading and research operations. As part of the transaction we
retained certain assets and liabilities related to the contributed businesses, including liabilities for certain litigation and
regulatory matters. We account for our 38% ownership of the joint venture under the equity method of accounting; periods
prior to July 1, 2003, continue to reflect the results of our previously wholly owned securities brokerage operations on a fully
consolidated basis. Accordingly, operating results for 2004 reflect earnings from the joint venture on the equity basis. Results
for 2003 reflect our securities brokerage operations on a consolidated basis for the first six months of 2003 and earnings from
the joint venture on the equity basis for the remaining six month period. Results for 2002 and prior years reflect our securities
brokerage operations on a fully consolidated basis.

In April 2001, we acquired Gibraltar Life, which has adopted a November 30 fiscal year end. Consolidated balance
sheet data as of December 31, 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001 includes Gibraltar Life assets and liabilities as of November 30
and fully consolidated income statement data for 2001 includes Gibraltar Life results from April 2, 2001, the date of its
reorganization, through November 30, 2001. Consolidated income statement data for 2004, 2003 and 2002 includes Gibraltar
Life results for the twelve months ended November 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

We have made several dispositions that materially affect the comparability of the data presented below. In the fourth
quarter of 2003, we completed the sale of our property and casualty insurance companies that operated nationally in 48 states
outside of New Jersey, and the District of Columbia, to Liberty Mutual Group, as well as our New Jersey property and
casualty insurance companies to Palisades Group. Results for 2003 include a pre-tax loss of $491 million related to the
disposition of these businesses. In the fourth quarter of 2000, we terminated the capital markets activities of Prudential
Securities. This business had a pre-tax loss of $22 million in 2004, pre-tax income of $287 million in 2003, including the
gain from a $332 million settlement of an arbitration award, a pre-tax loss of $36 million in 2002, a pre-tax loss of $159
million in 2001 and a pre-tax loss of $620 million in 2000. The loss from these operations in 2000 included charges of $476
million associated with our termination and wind-down of these businesses. In 2000, we sold Gibraltar Casualty Company, a
commercial property and casualty insurer that we placed in wind-down status in 1985. We incurred losses of $81 million in
2003 and $79 million in 2002 under a stop-loss agreement we entered into at the time of sale. Gibraltar Casualty had no
impact on results in 2001 and incurred pre-tax losses of $6 million in 2000.

On December 18, 2001, Prudential Insurance converted from a mutual life insurance company owned by its
policyholders to a stock life insurance company and became an indirect, wholly owned subsidiary of Prudential Financial.
“Demutualization costs and expenses” amounted to $588 million in 2001 and $143 million in 2000. “Demutualization costs
and expenses” in 2001 include $340 million of demutualization consideration paid to former Canadian branch policyholders.

You should read this selected consolidated financial information in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere
herein.
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Year Ended December 31,

2004

2003 2002

2001

2000

(in millions, except per share and ratio information)

Income Statement Data:

Revenues:
PremiUms . ... ...t $ 12,580 $ 13,233 $ 13,053 $ 11,904 $ 9,966
Policy charges and fee InCOME .. ........ ...ttt e 2,317 2,001 1,780 2,027 1,639
Net INVeStMENt INCOME . . . . o\ttt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 9,079 8,680 8,818 9,085 9,417
Realized investment gains (10SS€S), NEt . .. ...ttt e 726 270 (1,365) (674) (265)
Commissions and Other iNCOME . . . ... ... it e e e 3,646 3,704 3,992 4,304 5,239
TOtAl TEVENUES . . . ..\ 28,348 27,888 26,278 26,646 25,996
Benefits and expenses:
Policyholders’ benefits . .. ... ... ...t e 12,896 13,424 13,378 12,457 10,473
Interest credited to policyholders’ account balances . ............. ... ... ... i, 2,334 1,830 1,846 1,804 1,751
Dividends to policyholders . . ... ... ... ..ttt 2,485 2,602 2,644 2,722 2,724
General and administrative €XPenSEeS . .. .. ...vuun ettt ettt e 7,346 7,562 8,328 9,200 9,754
Capital markets restruCtUIIng . ... ...ttt e e e e e — — — — 476
Loss on disposition of property and casualty insurance operations ........................ — 491 — — —
Demutualization Costs and EXPENSES . . .« ..o v vttt ettt et e — — — 588 143
Total benefits and eXpenses .. .......... ...ttt 25,061 25909 26,196 26,771 25,321
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes, extraordinary gain on acquisition and
cumulative effect of accountingchange ........... ... ... . L i 3,287 1,979 82 (125) 675
Income tax expense (benefit) ........ ... . . 955 657 (188) (33) 381
Income (loss) from continuing operations before extraordinary gain on acquisition and cumulative
effect of accounting change ........... ... ... . . 2,332 1,322 270 92) 294
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes ................. ..., (18) (58) (76) (62) 104
Extraordinary gain on acquisition, net of taxes ...................iiiiiiiii i 21 — — — —
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxes ................c..ooiiiiiiiineeienn... (79) — — — —
Net iNCOME (I0SS) . . v v vttt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e $ 2256 $ 1264 $ 194 $ (154) $ 398
Basic income from continuing operations before extraordinary gain on acquisition and cumulative
effect of accounting change per share—Common Stock(1) ........ ... . ... . ... . ... $ 352 % 2108% 138 % 0.07
Diluted income from continuing operations before extraordinary gain on acquisition and cumulative
effect of accounting change per share—Common Stock(1) ............ .. ... . ... . ..., $ 345 $ 208 8% 138 % 0.07
Basic net income per share—Common Stock(1) ... ...ttt $ 338 $ 1998% 125% 007
Diluted net income per share—Common Stock(1) .. ...... ... i $ 331 $ 1988% 1258% 0.07
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share—Class B Stock(1) ..., $ 249.00 $ 89.50 $(264.00)0$ 1.50
Dividends declared per share—Common Stock .. ........... .. i $ 0625 $ 050 $ 040
Dividends declared per share—Class B Stock .......... ... .. ... i $ 9.625 $ 9.625 $ 9.625
Ratio of earnings to fixed char@es(2) ... ...ttt 2.07 1.80 1.05 1.22
As of December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(in millions)
Balance Sheet Data:
Total investments excluding policy L0ANS . . ... ...t $208,251 $172,889 $174,381 $157,400 $140,588
SePArate ACCOUNT ASSELS . .« . vttt vt et et e et e ettt e e e e e e e e e 115,568 106,680 70,555 77,158 82,217
TOtAl @SSELS . . .. vttt 401,058 321,274 292,616 292,901 272,619
Future policy benefits, policyholders’ account balances and unpaid claims and claim adjustment
EXPEIISES . ..ttt 179,337 146,223 140,168 133,732 104,130
Separate account Liabilities . .. .. ... ... .. e 115,568 106,680 70,555 77,158 82,217
Short-termdebt .. ... ... .. 4,044 4,739 3,469 5,405 11,131
Long-term debt ... ... ... ... 7,627 5,610 4,757 5,304 2,502
Total Habilities . ... ... ... 378,714 299,982 270,596 271,758 252,011
Guaranteed beneficial interest in Trust holding solely debentures of Parent(3) ... ................ — — 690 690 —
EQUILY . oottt 22,344 21,292 21,330 20,453 20,608

(1) Earnings per share data for 2001 reflects earnings for the period from December 18, 2001, the date of demutualization, through December 31, 2001

only.

(2) For purposes of this computation, earnings are defined as income from continuing operations before income taxes, extraordinary gain on acquisition and
cumulative effect of accounting change excluding undistributed income from equity method investments, fixed charges and interest capitalized. Fixed
charges are the sum of gross interest expense, interest credited to policyholders’ account balances and an estimated interest component of rent expense.
Due to the Company’s loss in 2001, the ratio coverage was less than 1:1 and is therefore not presented. Additional earnings of $160 million would have

been required in 2001 to achieve a ratio of 1:1.

(3) Effective December 31, 2003, the Company adopted the revised guidance under FIN No. 46. As a result, the Trust was deconsolidated and the

Prudential Financial debentures are reported as “Long-term debt.”
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following analysis of our consolidated financial condition and results of operations in conjunction
with the “Forward-Looking Statements,” “Selected Financial Data” and the “Consolidated Financial Statements” included
in this Annual Report.

Overview

Prudential Financial has two classes of common stock outstanding. The Common Stock, which is publicly traded
(NYSE:PRU), reflects the performance of the Financial Services Businesses, while the Class B Stock, which was issued
through a private placement and does not trade on any exchange, reflects the performance of the Closed Block Business. The
Financial Services Businesses and the Closed Block Business are discussed below.

Financial Services Businesses

Our Financial Services Businesses consist of three operating divisions, which together encompass seven segments, and
our Corporate and Other operations. The Insurance division consists of our Individual Life and Annuities and Group
Insurance segments. The Investment division consists of our Asset Management, Financial Advisory, and Retirement
segments. In the first quarter of 2004, we combined the former Other Asset Management segment with the former
Investment Management segment to form the Asset Management segment. The International Insurance and Investments
division consists of our International Insurance and International Investments segments. Our Corporate and Other operations
include our real estate and relocation services business, as well as corporate items and initiatives that are not allocated to
business segments. Corporate and Other operations also include businesses that have been or will be divested and businesses
that we have placed in wind-down status.

We attribute financing costs to each segment based on the amount of financing used by each segment, excluding
financing costs associated with corporate debt. The net investment income of each segment includes earnings on the amount
of equity that management believes is necessary to support the risks of that segment.

We seek growth internally and through acquisitions, joint ventures or other forms of business combinations or
investments. Our principal acquisition focus is in our current business lines, both domestic and international.

Closed Block Business

In connection with the demutualization, we ceased offering domestic participating products. The liabilities for our
domestic in force participating products were segregated, together with assets, in a regulatory mechanism referred to as the
“Closed Block.” The Closed Block is designed generally to provide for the reasonable expectations for future policy
dividends after demutualization of holders of participating individual life insurance policies and annuities included in the
Closed Block by allocating assets that will be used exclusively for payment of benefits, including policyholder dividends,
expenses and taxes with respect to these products. See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information
on the Closed Block. We selected the amount of Closed Block assets so that the Closed Block assets initially had a lower
book value than the Closed Block liabilities. We expect that the Closed Block assets will generate sufficient cash flow,
together with anticipated revenues from the Closed Block policies, over the life of the Closed Block to fund payments of all
expenses, taxes, and policyholder benefits to be paid to, and the reasonable dividend expectations of, holders of the Closed
Block policies. We also segregated for accounting purposes the assets that we need to hold outside the Closed Block to meet
capital requirements related to the Closed Block policies. No policies sold after demutualization will be added to the Closed
Block, and its in force business is expected to ultimately decline as we pay policyholder benefits in full. We also expect the
proportion of our business represented by the Closed Block to decline as we grow other businesses.

Concurrently with our demutualization, Prudential Holdings, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Prudential Financial
that owns the capital stock of Prudential Insurance, issued $1.75 billion in senior secured notes, which we refer to as the IHC
debt. The net proceeds from the issuances of the Class B Stock and IHC debt, except for $72 million used to purchase a
guaranteed investment contract to fund a portion of the bond insurance cost associated with that debt, were allocated to the
Financial Services Businesses. However, we expect that the IHC debt will be serviced by the net cash flows of the Closed
Block Business over time, and we include interest expenses associated with the THC debt when we report results of the
Closed Block Business.

The Closed Block Business consists principally of the Closed Block, assets that we must hold outside the Closed Block
to meet capital requirements related to the Closed Block policies, invested assets held outside the Closed Block that represent
the difference between the Closed Block assets and Closed Block liabilities and the interest maintenance reserve, deferred
policy acquisition costs related to Closed Block policies, the principal amount of the THC debt and related hedging activities,
and certain other related assets and liabilities.
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Revenues and Expenses

We earn our revenues principally from insurance premiums; mortality, expense, and asset management fees from
insurance and investment products; and investment of general account and other funds. We earn premiums primarily from
the sale of individual life insurance and group life and disability insurance. We earn mortality, expense, and asset
management fees from the sale and servicing of separate account products including variable life insurance and variable
annuities. We also earn asset management and administrative fees from the distribution, servicing and management of mutual
funds, retirement products and other asset management products and services. Our operating expenses principally consist of
insurance benefits provided, general business expenses, dividends to policyholders, commissions and other costs of selling
and servicing the various products we sell and interest credited on general account liabilities.

Profitability

Our profitability depends principally on our ability to price and manage risk on insurance products, our ability to attract
and retain customer assets and our ability to manage expenses. Specific drivers of our profitability include:

e our ability to manufacture and distribute products and services and to introduce new products that gain market
acceptance on a timely basis;

e our ability to price our insurance products at a level that enables us to earn a margin over the cost of providing
benefits and the expense of acquiring customers and administering those products;

e our mortality and morbidity experience on individual and group life insurance, annuity and group disability insurance
products;

e our persistency experience, which affects our ability to recover the cost of acquiring new business over the lives of
the contracts;

 our cost of administering insurance contracts and providing asset management products and services;
e our returns on invested assets, net of the amounts we credit to policyholders’ accounts;

e our ability to earn commissions and fees from the distribution and servicing of mutual funds, annuities, retirement
products, and other investment products at a level that enables us to earn a margin over the expense of providing such
services;

* the performance of our investment in Wachovia Securities Financial Holdings, LLC, or Wachovia Securities;

e the amount of our assets under management and changes in their fair value, which affect the amount of asset
management fees we receive;

 our ability to generate favorable investment results through asset/liability management and strategic and tactical asset
allocation; and

e our ability to maintain our credit and financial strength ratings.

In addition, factors such as regulation, competition, interest rates, taxes, foreign exchange rates, securities market
conditions and general economic conditions affect our profitability. In some of our product lines, particularly those in the
Closed Block Business, we share experience on mortality, morbidity, persistency and investment results with our customers,
which can offset the impact of these factors on our profitability from those products.

Historically, the participating products included in the Closed Block have yielded lower returns on capital invested than
many of our other businesses. As we have ceased offering domestic participating products, we expect that the proportion of
the traditional participating products in our in force business will gradually diminish as these older policies age, and we grow
other businesses. However, the relatively lower returns to us on this existing block of business will continue to affect our
consolidated results of operations for many years. Our Common Stock reflects the performance of our Financial Services
Businesses, but there can be no assurance that the market value of the Common Stock will reflect solely the performance of
these businesses.

Executive Summary

Prudential Financial, one of the largest financial services firms in the U.S., offers clients a wide array of financial
products and services, including life insurance, mutual funds, annuities, pension and retirement-related services and
administration, asset management, banking and trust services, real estate brokerage and relocation services, and, through a
joint venture, securities brokerage. We offer these products and services through one of the largest distribution networks in
the financial services industry.
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Significant developments and events in 2004 reflect our continued efforts to redeploy capital effectively to seek
enhanced returns. These developments included:

e The acquisition, on April 1, 2004, of the retirement business of CIGNA Corporation for cash consideration of $2.1
billion.

» The continuation of our share repurchase program. In 2004, we repurchased 32.5 million shares of Common Stock at
a total cost of $1.5 billion and are authorized, under a new stock repurchase program authorized by Prudential
Financial’s Board of Directors in November 2004, to repurchase up to an additional $1.5 billion of Common Stock
during 2005.

e A 25% increase in our annual Common Stock dividend, to $0.625 per share.

e The acquisition, on February 27, 2004, of an 80% interest in Hyundai Investment and Securities Co., Ltd. and its
subsidiary Hyundai Investment Trust Management Co., Ltd., which we refer to together as Hyundai, a Korean asset
management firm, subsequently renamed Prudential Investment & Securities Co., Ltd.

On February 19, 2004, A.M. Best Company upgraded the financial strength ratings of Prudential Insurance and our
domestic insurance operations to “A+" (Superior) from “A” (Excellent). On October 13, 2004, Moody’s Investors Service,
Inc. upgraded the financial strength rating of Prudential Insurance to “Aa3” (Excellent) from “A1” (Good). On November 30,
2004, Standard & Poor’s Rating Services upgraded the financial strength ratings of Prudential Insurance and our domestic
insurance operations to “AA-" (Very Strong) from “A+” (Strong). These ratings are of concern to policyholders, agents and
intermediaries. They are not directed toward stockholders and do not in any way reflect evaluations of the safety and security
of the Common Stock.

We analyze performance of the segments and Corporate and Other operations of the Financial Services Businesses
using a measure called adjusted operating income. See “—Consolidated Results of Operations” for a definition of adjusted
operating income and a discussion of its use as a measure of segment operating performance.

Shown below are the contributions of each segment to our adjusted operating income for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002 and a reconciliation of adjusted operating income of our segments to income from continuing
operations before income taxes, extraordinary gain on acquisition and cumulative effect of accounting change.

Year ended
December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(in millions)

Adjusted operating income before income taxes for segments of the Financial Services Businesses:
Individual Life and ANNUILIES . . . . ..ottt ettt e ettt e e e e e $ 817 $ 619 $390
Group INSUTANCE . . .. oottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e 174 169 155
ASSEt MANAZEIMNCNL . . . o ottt ettt ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 266 208 184
Financial AdVISOTY . .. ..ottt et e e e e e e (245) (111) (43)

REUICMENL . . oot et et e e e e e e 334 192 141
International INSUTANCE . . . . . .. ottt et e et e e e e e e e 917 819 757
International INVESIMENLS . . . . . ...ttt ettt et e e et e e e e e e e e 86 (10) —
Corporate and OthEr . .. ... ...t et e e 158 88 156
Items excluded from adjusted operating income:
Realized investment gains (losses), net, and related adjustments . . .. ... ... ottt e 82 (156)  (872)
Charges related to realized investment gains (I0SSES), NEL . . . ... .o\ttt e et (58) 43) 6
Investment gains (losses) on trading account assets supporting insurance liabilities, net ............... ... ... ...... (43) — —
Change in experience-rated contractholder liabilities due to asset value changes .............. ... i, (11) — —
Sales practices remedies and COSES . . ... v .ttt ettt e e e e — — (20)
DIVESIEd DUSINESSES . . o o vt ettt ettt e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e (105) (166) (15)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes, extraordinary gain on acquisition and cumulative effect of accounting
change for Financial Services BUSINESSES . .. ... ...ttt ettt et et e e e e e e 2,372 1,609 839
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes for Closed Block Business ............ ... ... ... ... .... 915 370 (757)

Consolidated income from continuing operations before income taxes, extraordinary gain on acquisition and cumulative effect
of acCoUNting ChANZE . . . . oottt e $3,287 $1979 $ 82

Results for 2004 presented above reflect the following:

e Continued strong performance of our international insurance operations, including pre-tax adjusted operating income
of $402 million from our Gibraltar Life operations, and pre-tax adjusted operating income of $515 million from our
international insurance operations other than Gibraltar Life.

* Significantly improved results of our Individual Life and Annuities segment reflecting a $33 million improvement
from 2003 in our individual life business and a $165 million improvement from 2003 in our annuities business.
Results of the annuity business we acquired from American Skandia contributed $242 million of pre-tax adjusted
operating income in 2004 and $167 million in 2003, which represented the initial eight months of results from that
business following the May 2003 acquisition. Pre-tax adjusted operating income from our original individual annuity
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business, excluding American Skandia, increased $90 million from 2003, as the business benefited from higher asset
based fees and increased net interest spread on general account annuities.

e Improved results of our Retirement segment reflecting $128 million in pre-tax adjusted operating income in 2004
from the retirement business acquired from CIGNA on April 1, 2004. Pre-tax adjusted operating income from our
original retirement business of $206 million in 2004, reflected improved results from our defined contribution
business, partially offset by a decline in adjusted operating income from our guaranteed products business.

e Improved results of our Asset Management segment, which benefited from increased asset-based fees, primarily as a
result of increases in assets under management due to the acquisition of CIGNA’s retirement business, market
appreciation and positive net inflows.

e Continued strong results from our Group Insurance segment, which contributed pre-tax adjusted operating income of
$174 million in 2004.

e Improved results from our International Investments segment, which benefited from our February 2004 acquisition of an
80% stake in Hyundai Investment and Securities Co., Ltd., a Korean asset management firm.

e Losses, on a pre-tax adjusted operating income basis, of $245 million in 2004 from our Financial Advisory segment.
Our 38% share of earnings from our Wachovia Securities joint venture, before transition costs, contributed pre-tax
adjusted operating income of $172 million in 2004. However, the segment’s results included transition costs of $194
million. The segment’s losses also included costs of $227 million for 2004 related to obligations we retained in
connection with the businesses we contributed to the joint venture, primarily retained litigation and regulatory
matters.

* Realized investment gains (losses), net, and related charges and adjustments for the Financial Services Businesses in
2004 included impairments and credit-related losses of $143 million, down from $404 million in 2003.

¢ Results of the Closed Block Business for 2004 included realized investment gains of $715 million in 2004, compared
to $426 million in 2003.

Accounting Policies & Pronouncements

Application of Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America, or GAAP, requires the application of accounting policies that often involve a significant degree of judgment.
Management, on an ongoing basis, reviews estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of financial statements. If
management determines that modifications in assumptions and estimates are appropriate given current facts and
circumstances, results of operations and financial position as reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements could change
significantly.

The following sections discuss the accounting policies applied in preparing our financial statements that management
believes are most dependent on the application of estimates and assumptions.

Valuation of Investments

As prescribed by GAAP, we present our investments classified as available for sale, including fixed maturity and equity
securities, and our investments classified as trading, such as our trading account assets supporting insurance liabilities, at fair
value in the statements of financial position. The fair values for our public fixed maturity securities and our public equity
securities are based on quoted market prices or estimates from independent pricing services. However, for our investments in
private securities such as private placement fixed maturity securities, which comprise 14% of our investments as of
December 31, 2004, this information is not available. For these private fixed maturities, fair value is determined typically by
using a discounted cash flow model, which considers current market credit spreads for publicly traded issues with similar
terms by companies of comparable credit quality, and an additional spread component for the reduced liquidity associated
with private placements. This additional spread component is determined based on surveys of various third party financial
institutions. See “—Realized Investment Gains and General Account Investments—General Account Investments—Fixed
Maturity Securities—Private Fixed Maturities—Credit Quality” for information regarding the credit quality of the private
fixed maturity securities included in our general account.

For our investments classified as available for sale, the impact of changes in fair value is recorded as an unrealized gain
or loss in “Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net,” a separate component of equity. For our investments
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classified as trading, the impact of changes in fair value is recorded within “Commissions and other income.” In addition,
investments classified as available for sale, as well as those classified as held to maturity, are subject to impairment reviews
to identify when a decline in value is other than temporary. Factors we consider in determining whether a decline in value is
other than temporary include: the extent (generally if greater than 20%) and duration (generally if greater than six months) of
the decline; the reasons for the decline in value (credit event or interest rate related); our ability and intent to hold the
investment for a period of time that will allow for a recovery of value; and the financial condition and near-term prospects of
the issuer. When it is determined that a decline in value is other than temporary, the carrying value of the security is reduced
to its fair value, with a corresponding charge to earnings. This corresponding charge is referred to as an impairment and is
reflected in “Realized investment gains (losses), net” in the statements of operations. The level of impairment losses can be
expected to increase when economic conditions worsen and decrease when economic conditions improve. See “—Realized
Investment Gains and General Account Investments—Realized Investment Gains” for a discussion of the effects of
impairments on our operating results for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Commercial loans, which comprise 11% of our investments as of December 31, 2004, are carried primarily at unpaid
principal balances, net of unamortized discounts and an allowance for losses. This allowance includes a loan specific portion
as well as a portfolio reserve for probable incurred but not specifically identified losses. The loan specific portion is based on
management’s judgment as to ultimate collectibility of loan principal. The portfolio reserve is based on a number of factors,
such as historical experience and portfolio diversification. Adjustments to the allowance are reflected in “Realized
investment gains (losses), net,” in our statements of operations. Similar to impairment losses discussed above, the allowance
for losses can be expected to increase when economic conditions worsen and decrease when economic conditions improve.
See “—Realized Investment Gains and General Account Investments—General Account Investments—Commercial Loans—
Commercial Loan Quality” for a discussion of the effects of the valuation allowance on our operating results for the years
ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.

See “—Realized Investment Gains and General Account Investments—General Account Investments” for a discussion
of our investment portfolio, including the gross unrealized gains and losses as of December 31, 2004, related to the fixed
maturity and equity securities of our general account, our policies and procedures regarding the identification of other than
temporary declines in investment value, and the carrying value, credit quality, and allowance for losses related to the
commercial loans of our general account.

Policyholder Liabilities

Future Policy Benefit Reserves

We establish reserves for future policy benefits to or on behalf of policyholders in the same period in which the policy is
issued. These reserves relate primarily to the traditional participating whole life policies of our Closed Block Business and
the non-participating whole life, term life, group disability insurance and group pension and structured settlement products of
our Financial Services Businesses.

The future policy benefit reserves for the traditional participating life insurance products of our Closed Block Business,
which as of December 31, 2004, represented 48% of our total future policy benefit reserves, are determined using the net
level premium method as prescribed by GAAP. In applying this method, we use mortality assumptions to determine our
expected future benefits and expected future premiums, and apply an interest rate to determine the present value of both the
expected future benefit payments and the expected future premiums. The mortality assumptions we used were based on data
from the standard industry experience studies that were used to determine the cash surrender value of the policies and the
interest rates used are the contractually guaranteed interest rates used to calculate the cash surrender value of the policy.
Gains or losses in our results of operations for each period resulting from deviations in actual experience compared to the
experience assumed in establishing our reserves for this business are included in the determination of our annual dividends to
these policyholders. Given our current level of policy dividends, we do not anticipate significant volatility in our results of
operations in future periods as a result of these deviations.

The future policy benefit reserves for our International Insurance segment and our domestic individual life business,
which as of December 31, 2004, represented 35% of our total future policy benefit reserves combined, relate primarily to
non-participating whole life and term life products and are determined in accordance with GAAP as the present value of
expected future benefits to or on behalf of policyholders plus the present value of future expenses less the present value of
future net premiums. The expected future benefits and expenses are based on mortality, lapse, maintenance expense, and
interest rate assumptions. Reserves for new business are based on best estimate assumptions as of the date the policy is issued
with provisions for the risk of adverse deviation. After our reserves are initially established, we perform premium deficiency
tests using best estimate assumptions as of the testing date without provisions for adverse deviation. If reserves determined
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based on these assumptions are greater than the existing reserves, the existing reserves are adjusted to the greater amount.
Our mortality assumptions are generally based on the Company’s historical experience or standard industry tables, as
applicable; our expense assumptions are based on current levels of maintenance costs, adjusted for the effects of inflation;
and our interest rate assumptions are based on current and expected net investment returns. We review our mortality
assumptions annually and conduct full actuarial studies every three years. Generally, we do not expect our mortality trends to
change significantly in the short-term and to the extent these trends may change we expect such changes to be gradual over
the long-term.

The reserves for future policy benefits of our Retirement segment, which as of December 31, 2004 represented 13% of
our total future policy benefit reserves, relate primarily to our group pension and structured settlement products. These
reserves are generally determined as the present value of expected future benefits and expenses based on mortality,
retirement, maintenance expense, and interest rate assumptions. Reserves for new business are based on best estimate
assumptions as of the date the contract is issued with provisions for the risk of adverse deviation. After our reserves are
initially established, we perform premium deficiency testing by product group using best estimate assumptions as of the
testing date without provisions for adverse deviation. If reserves determined based on these assumptions are greater than the
existing reserves, the existing reserves are adjusted to the greater amount. Our best estimate assumptions are determined by
product group. Our mortality and retirement assumptions are based on Company experience; our expense assumptions are
based on current levels of maintenance costs, adjusted for the effects of inflation; and our interest rate assumptions are based
on current and expected net investment returns.

Unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses

Our liability for unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses relates primarily to the group long-term disability
products of our Group Insurance segment. This liability represents our estimate of future expenses and disability claim
payments as well as estimates of claims that we believe have been incurred, but have not yet been reported as of the balance
sheet date. We do not establish loss liabilities until a loss has occurred. As prescribed by GAAP, our liability is determined as
the present value of future claim payments and expenses. Future claims payments are estimated using assumed mortality and
claim termination factors and an assumed interest rate. The mortality and claim termination factors are based on standard
industry tables and Company experience. Our interest rate assumptions are based on factors such as market conditions and
expected investment returns. Of these assumptions, our claim termination assumptions have historically had the most
significant effects on our level of liability. We regularly review our claim termination assumptions compared to actual
terminations and conduct full actuarial studies every two to three years. These studies review actual claim termination
experience over a number of years with more weight placed on the actual experience in the more recent years. If actual
experience results in a materially different assumption, we adjust our liability for unpaid claims and claims adjustment
expenses accordingly with a charge or credit to current period earnings. Generally, we do not expect our actual claim
termination experience to deviate significantly from the experience we assumed in determining our level of liability.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

We capitalize costs that vary with and are related primarily to the acquisition of new and renewal insurance and annuity
contracts. These costs include primarily commissions, costs of policy issuance and underwriting, and variable field office
expenses. We amortize these deferred policy acquisition costs, or DAC, over the expected lives of the contracts, based on the
level and timing of either gross margins, gross profits, or gross premiums, depending on the type of contract. As of
December 31, 2004, DAC in our Financial Services Businesses was $7.6 billion and DAC in our Closed Block Business was
$1.2 billion.

DAC associated with the traditional participating products of our Closed Block Business is amortized over the expected
lives of those contracts in proportion to gross margins. Gross margins consider premiums, investment returns, benefit claims,
costs for policy administration, changes in reserves, and dividends to policyholders. We evaluate our estimates of future
gross margins and adjust the related DAC balance with a corresponding charge or credit to current period earnings for the
effects of actual gross margins and changes in our expected future gross margins. Since many of the factors that affect gross
margins are included in the determination of our dividends to these policyholders, we do not anticipate significant volatility
in our results of operations as a result of DAC adjustments, given our current level of dividends.

DAC associated with the term life policies of our domestic individual life insurance business and the non-participating
whole life, term life and health policies of our international insurance businesses is amortized in proportion to gross
premiums. We evaluate the recoverability of our DAC related to these policies as part of our premium deficiency testing. If a
premium deficiency exists, we reduce DAC by the amount of the deficiency or to zero through a charge to current period
earnings. If the deficiency is more than the DAC balance, we then increase the reserve for future policy benefits by the
excess by means of a charge to current period earnings. Generally, we do not expect significant short-term deterioration in
experience, and therefore do not expect significant writedowns of the related DAC.
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DAC associated with the variable and universal life policies of our domestic individual life insurance and international
insurance businesses and the variable and fixed annuity contracts of our individual annuities business is amortized over the
expected life of these policies in proportion to gross profits. In calculating gross profits, we consider mortality, persistency,
and other elements as well as rates of return on investments associated with these contracts. We regularly evaluate and adjust
the related DAC balance with a corresponding charge or credit to current period earnings for the effects of our actual gross
profits and changes in our assumptions regarding estimated future gross profits. Our evaluation of DAC related to variable
annuity contracts considers expected gross profits that would be generated within a pre-established reasonably possible
range, or corridor, of future rate of return scenarios. Adjustments to DAC are made only when our long-term view of
investment returns considered in our estimates of future gross profits results in a DAC balance outside of the corridor.
However, notwithstanding our corridor approach, we may determine that a revision of our expected gross profits and a
related adjustment to our DAC is necessary if changes in additional factors, such as policyholder activity, suggest that our
current view of expected gross profits may no longer represent our best estimate. For variable annuity contracts, DAC is
more sensitive to the effects of changes in our estimates of gross profits due primarily to the significant portion of gross
profits that is dependent upon the total rate of return on assets held in separate account investment options, and the shorter
average life of the contracts. This rate of return influences the fees we earn, costs we incur associated with minimum death
benefit and other contractual guarantees specific to our variable annuity contracts, as well as other sources of profit. This is
also true, to a lesser degree, for our variable life policies; however, the variable life policies derive a significant portion of
their gross profits from margins in the cost of insurance charge.

In evaluating the DAC for our domestic variable life insurance and annuity products, future rate of return assumptions
are evaluated using a reversion to mean approach, a common industry practice. Under this approach, we consider actual
returns over a period of time and project returns for the future period so that the assets grow at the expected rate of return for
the entire period. If the projected future rate of return is greater than our maximum future rate of return, we use our
maximum reasonable future rate of return. For variable annuities products, our expected rate of return is 8% per annum,
which reflects an expected rate of return of 8.9% per annum for equity type assets. The future equity rate of return used
varies by product, but was under 8.9% per annum for all of our variable annuity products for our evaluation of deferred
policy acquisition costs as of December 31, 2004.

To demonstrate the sensitivity of our variable annuity DAC balance relative to our future rate of return, increasing or
decreasing our future rate of return by 100 basis points would have required us to consider adjustments, subject to our
application of the corridor approach, to that DAC balance as follows. The information provided in the table below considers
only the effect of changes in our future rate of return and not changes in any other assumptions such as persistency, mortality,
or expenses included in our evaluation of DAC.

Increase/(Reduction)
in DAC
(in millions)
Increase in future rate of return by 100 basis POINES . .. ... ...ttt $ 18
Decrease in future rate of return by 100 basis POINES . . . . ..ottt e e e $(18)

For a discussion of DAC adjustments related to our individual annuities business for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002, see “—Results of Operations for Financial Services Businesses by Segment—Insurance Division—
Individual Life and Annuities.”

Goodwill

We test goodwill for impairment on an annual basis as of December 31 of each year and more frequently if events occur
or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount.
Impairment testing requires us to compare the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying amount, including goodwill,
and record an impairment charge if the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value. The
determination of a reporting unit’s fair value is based on management’s best estimate, which generally considers the unit’s
expected future earnings and market-based earning multiples of peer companies. As of December 31, 2004, we have $976
million of goodwill reflected on our statements of financial position. During 2004, we recorded a goodwill impairment of
$53 million relating to our Dryden Wealth Management business and, during 2002, we recorded goodwill impairments of
$36 million relating primarily to our property and casualty business. There were no goodwill impairment charges
during 2003.

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

We sponsor pension and other postretirement benefit plans covering employees who meet specific eligibility
requirements. Our net periodic costs for these plans consider an assumed interest rate, an expected rate of return on plan
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assets and expected increases in compensation levels and trends in health care costs. Of these assumptions, our expected rate
of return assumptions have historically had the most significant effect on our net period costs associated with these plans. We
determine our expected return on plan assets based upon the arithmetical average of prospective returns, which is based upon
a risk free rate as of the measurement date adjusted by a risk premium that considers historical statistics and expected
investment manager performance, for equity, debt and real estate markets applied on a weighted average basis to our asset
portfolio. See Note 16 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for our actual asset allocations by asset category and the
asset allocation ranges prescribed by our investment policy guidelines for both our pension and other post-retirement benefit
plans. Our assumed long-term rate of return for 2004 was 8.75% for our pension plan and 7.75% for our other post retirement
benefit plans. Given the amount of plan assets as of September 30, 2003, the beginning of the measurement year, if we had
assumed an expected rate of return for both our pension and other postretirement benefit plans that was 1 percentage point
lower or 1 percentage point higher than the rates we assumed, the change in our net periodic costs would have been as shown
in the table below. The information provided in the table below considers only changes in our assumed long-term rate of
return given the level and mix of invested assets at the beginning of the measurement year, without consideration of possible
changes in any of the other assumptions described above that could ultimately accompany any changes in our assumed long-
term rate of return.

For the year ended December 31, 2004

Increase/(decrease) in
Increase/(decrease) in Net Periodic Other
Net Periodic Pension Benefit Postretirement Benefit Cost

(in millions)
Increase in expected rate of return by 1 percentage point . ............. ... ... ..... $ 94 $ 10
Decrease in expected rate of return by 1 percentage point . ............. ... ... ..... $(94) $(10)

13

For a discussion of our expected rate of return on plan assets for 2005 see
Services Businesses by Segment—Corporate and Other Operations.”

—Results of Operations for Financial

In addition to the effect of changes in our assumptions, our net periodic pension benefit and our net periodic cost for
other postretirement benefits may change due to factors such as actual experience being different from our assumptions,
special benefits to terminated employees, or changes in benefits provided under the plans.

Taxes on Income

Our effective tax rate is based on expected income and statutory tax rates and tax planning opportunities available in the
various jurisdictions in which we operate. Inherent in determining our annual tax rate are judgments regarding business
plans, planning opportunities and expectations about future outcomes.

Tax regulations require items to be included in the tax return at different times from the items are reflected in the
financial statements. As a result, the effective tax rate reflected in the financial statements is different than the actual rate
applied on the tax return. Some of these differences are permanent such as expenses that are not deductible in our tax return,
and some differences are temporary, reversing over time, such as valuation of insurance reserves. Timing differences create
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets generally represent items that can be used as a tax deduction or credit in
future years for which we have already recorded the tax benefit in our income statement. Deferred tax liabilities generally
represent tax expense recognized in our financial statements for which payment has been deferred, or expenditures for which
we have already taken a deduction in our tax return but have not yet recognized in our financial statements. The application
of GAAP requires us to evaluate the recoverability of our deferred tax assets and establish a valuation allowance if necessary
to reduce our deferred tax asset to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized. Realization of certain deferred tax
assets is dependent upon generating sufficient taxable income in the appropriate jurisdiction prior to the expiration of the
carry-forward periods. Although realization is not assured, management believes it is more likely than not the deferred tax
assets, net of valuation allowances, will be realized.

Our accounting represents management’s best estimate of future events that can be appropriately reflected in the
accounting estimates. Certain changes or future events, such as changes in tax legislation, geographic mix of earnings and
completion of tax audits could have an impact on our estimates and effective tax rate.

To the extent our effective tax rate increases or decreases by 1 percent of income from continuing operations before
income taxes, extraordinary gain on acquisition and cumulative effect of accounting change, consolidated income from
continuing operations before extraordinary gain on acquisition and cumulative effect of accounting change would have
increased or declined by $33 million in 2004.
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The amount of income taxes paid by the Company is subject to ongoing audits in various jurisdictions. We reserve for
our best estimate of potential payments/settlements to be made to the Internal Revenue Service and other taxing jurisdictions
for audits ongoing or not yet commenced. We anticipate that the Internal Revenue Service will complete its examination of
1997 through 2001 during the first half of 2005. Although the results of these audits are not final, based on currently
available information, we believe that the outcome will not have an adverse effect on our financial position, cash flows or
results of operations.

Reserves for Contingencies

A contingency is an existing condition that involves a degree of uncertainty that will ultimately be resolved upon the
occurrence of future events. Under GAAP, reserves for contingencies are required to be established when the future event is
probable and its impact can be reasonably estimated. An example is the establishment of a reserve for losses in connection
with an unresolved legal matter. The initial reserve reflects management’s best estimate of the probable cost of ultimate
resolution of the matter and is revised accordingly as facts and circumstances change and, ultimately, when the matter is
brought to closure.

Accounting Policies Adopted

Accounting for Stock Options

Employee stock options issued during 2001 and 2002 are accounted for using the intrinsic value method prescribed by
Accounting Principles Board, or APB, No. 25, “Accounting to Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations, an
allowable alternative method under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No.123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation.” Under APB No. 25, we did not recognize any stock-based compensation expense for employee stock
options as all employee stock options had an exercise price equal to the market value of our Common Stock at the date of
grant. Effective January 1, 2003, we changed our accounting for employee stock options to adopt the fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS No. 123, as amended, prospectively for all new awards granted to employees on or after January 1, 2003.
Under these provisions, the fair value of all employee stock options awarded on or after January 1, 2003, is included in the
determination of net income, but not for options awarded prior thereto. Accordingly, the amount we include in the
determination of net income is less than that which would have been recognized if the fair value method had been applied to
all awards since inception of the employee stock option plan. The fair value of employee stock options issued prior to
January 1, 2003 was estimated using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. For options issued on or after January 1, 2003,
the fair value of each option was estimated using a binomial option-pricing model. Both option-pricing models consider the
following assumptions in estimating fair value: dividend yield, expected volatility, risk-free interest rate, and expected life of
the option. If we had recognized stock option expense for all employee stock options under the fair value based accounting
method, net income of the Financial Services Businesses for the year ended December 31, 2004, would have been reduced by
$26 million or, $0.05 per share of Common Stock on a both basic and diluted basis. The net income of the Closed Block
Business for the year ended December 31, 2004, would have been reduced by $1 million with no change in earnings per
share of the Class B Stock. For the year ended December 31, 2003, net income would have been reduced by $35 million or
$0.06 and $0.07 per share of Common Stock on a basic and diluted basis, respectively. The net income of the Closed Block
Business for the year ended December 31, 2003, would have been reduced by $1 million with no change in earnings per
share of the Class B Stock. For the year ended December 31, 2002, net income and basic and diluted earnings per share of
Common Stock would have been reduced by $30 million and $0.05, respectively.

Accounting for Certain Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts and for Separate Accounts

See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the cumulative effect of accounting change
from the adoption of Statement of Position 03-1, “Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises for Certain
Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts and for Separate Accounts” or, SOP 03-1, which became effective on January 1,
2004.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the recently issued final standard on accounting
for share-based payments, FASB Statement No. 123R (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment,” which we will implement
effective July 1, 2005.
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Consolidated Results of Operations

The following table summarizes income from continuing operations before extraordinary gain on acquisition and
cumulative effect of accounting change for the Financial Services Businesses and the Closed Block Business as well as other
components comprising net income.

Year ended
December 31,

2004 2003 2002

(in millions)

Financial Services Businesses by segment:

Individual Life and ANNUILIES . . . . ..ottt ettt e e ettt e e e e e e e $ 804 $ 565 $243
Group INSUTANCE . . .. oottt e e e e et e e e e e e e e 217 117 26
Total Insurance DIVISION . .. ... . 1,021 682 269
ASSEt MANAZEIMNCNL . . . o o\ vttt ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 274 213 248
Financial AdVISOTY . .. ..ottt e e e e e e e e (245) (111) (43)
ReUITemMENt . . ..o 345 196 (235)
Total Investment DivISION . .. ... .. ...t e 374 298 (30)
International INSUTANCE . . . . . . ..ottt e e e e e 920 805 569
International INVESIMENLS . . . .. oottt ettt ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 38 62) —
Total International Insurance and Investments Division . ................ .ottt innnnnean. 958 743 569
Corporate and Other . . ... ... ... e e e 19 (114) 31
Income from continuing operations before income taxes, extraordinary gain on acquisition and cumulative effect of accounting
change for Financial Services BUSINESSES . .. . ...ttt e e e e e 2,372 1,609 839
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes for Closed Block Business ............................... 915 370 (757)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes, extraordinary gain on acquisition and cumulative effect of
accounting Chan@e . .. ... 3,287 1,979 82
Income tax expense (Denefit) . . ... ... .. .t e 955 657 (188)
Income from continuing operations before extraordinary gain on acquisition and cumulative effect of accounting change ... ... 2,332 1,322 270
Loss from discontinued operations, NEt Of tAXES . . ... .o\ttt et et ettt e e e e s (18) (58) (76)
Extraordinary gain on acquisition, NEt Of tAXES . .. ... ..ottt e 21 — —
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxes ............. ... ... i (79) — —
NELINCOME . . ot ottt ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $2,256  $1,264 $ 194

In managing our business, we analyze operating performance separately for our Financial Services Businesses and our
Closed Block Business. For the Financial Services Businesses, we analyze our segments’ operating performance using
“adjusted operating income.” Results of the Closed Block Business for all periods are evaluated and presented only in
accordance with GAAP. Adjusted operating income does not equate to “income from continuing operations before income
taxes, extraordinary gain on acquisition and cumulative effect of accounting change” as determined in accordance with
GAAP but is the measure of segment profit or loss we use to evaluate segment performance and allocate resources, and
consistent with SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” is our measure of
segment performance. Adjusted operating income is calculated for the segments of the Financial Services Businesses by
adjusting each segment’s “income from continuing operations before income taxes, extraordinary gain on acquisition and
cumulative effect of accounting change” to exclude the following items:

¢ realized investment gains net of losses, except as indicated below, and related charges and adjustments;

* net investment gains and losses on trading account assets supporting insurance liabilities and changes in experience-
rated contractholder liabilities due to asset value changes;

« life insurance sales practices remedies and costs; and

* the contribution to income/loss of divested businesses that have been or will be sold or exited that do not qualify for
“discontinued operations” accounting treatment under GAAP.

We include in adjusted operating income the portion of our realized investment gains and losses on derivatives that
arises from the termination of contracts used to hedge our foreign currency earnings in the same period that the expected
earnings emerge. Similarly, we include in adjusted operating income the portion of our realized gains and losses on
derivatives used to manage interest rate and currency exposure on asset and liability mismatches that represents current
period yield adjustments for these assets and liabilities.

The contributions to income/loss of wind-down businesses that we have not divested remain in adjusted operating
income.
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The excluded items are important to an understanding of our overall results of operations. Adjusted operating income is
not a substitute for net income determined in accordance with GAAP, and our definition of adjusted operating income may
differ from that used by other companies. However, we believe that the presentation of adjusted operating income as we
measure it for management purposes enhances understanding of our results of operations by highlighting the results from
ongoing operations and the underlying profitability of the Financial Services Businesses. Adjusted operating income
excludes net realized investment gains and losses, other than those associated with terminating hedges of foreign currency
earnings and current period yield adjustments. A significant element of realized investment losses is impairments and losses
from sales of credit-impaired securities, the timing of which depends largely on market credit cycles and can vary
considerably across periods. The timing of other sales that would result in gains or losses is largely subject to our discretion
and influenced by market opportunities. Trends in the underlying profitability of our businesses can be more clearly
identified without the fluctuating effects of these transactions. Similarly, adjusted operating income excludes investment
gains and losses on trading account assets supporting insurance liabilities and changes in experience-rated contractholder
liabilities due to asset value changes, because these recorded changes in asset and liability values will ultimately inure to the
contractholders. Adjusted operating income also excludes life insurance sales practices remedies and costs relating to the
settlement of individual life insurance sales practices issues for the period from 1982 through 1995 because they relate to a
substantial and identifiable non-recurring event. Adjusted operating income excludes the results of divested businesses
because they are not relevant to understanding our ongoing operating results. See Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further information on the presentation of segment results.

Results of Operations for Financial Services Businesses by Segment
Insurance Division

Individual Life and Annuities

Operating Results

The following table sets forth the Individual Life and Annuities segment’s operating results for the periods indicated.

Year ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(in millions)

Operating results:

Revenues:
Individual Life .. ... e $2,125 $1,936  $1,952
Individual ANNUITIES . . . . oottt et e e e e e e e e 1,578 1,146 744

3,703 3,082 2,696

Benefits and expenses:
Individual Life ... ... 1,735 1,579 1,520
Individual ANNUILIES . . .. ..o 1,151 884 786

2,886 2,463 2,306

Adjusted operating income:

Individual Life ... ... 390 357 432
Individual ANNUILIES . . . . ..o 427 262 (42)
817 619 390
Realized investment gains (losses), net, and related adjustments(1) . .......... ... ... . 21 41) (162)
Related charges(1)(2) . .. ..ottt (34) (13) 15
Income from continuing operations before income taxes, extraordinary gain on acquisition and cumulative effect of
ACCOUNLING CANZE . . . ...ttt e $ 804 $ 565 $ 243

(1) Revenues exclude realized investment gains (losses), net, and related charges and adjustments. The related charges represent payments related to the
market value adjustment features of certain of our annuity products. For a discussion of these items see “—Realized Investment Gains and General
Account Investments—Realized Investment Gains.”

(2) Benefits and expenses exclude related charges which represent the unfavorable (favorable) impact of realized investment gains (losses), net, on change
in reserves and the amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs and value of business acquired. For a discussion of these items see “—Realized
Investment Gains and General Account Investments—Realized Investment Gains.”

On May 1, 2003, we acquired Skandia U.S. Inc., which included American Skandia, Inc., for a total purchase price of

$1.184 billion. Beginning May 1, 2003, the results of American Skandia have been included in our consolidated results and
are included as a component of our annuity business discussed below.
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Adjusted Operating Income

2004 to 2003 Annual Comparison. The segment’s individual life business adjusted operating income increased $33
million, from $357 million in 2003 to $390 million in 2004. The increase reflected more favorable claims experience, net of
reinsurance, in 2004. However, results for 2004 reflect a lower contribution from investment income after investment related
expenses in comparison to 2003, due to a decrease in the level of capital required to support the business. The decrease in the
level of capital required to support the business reflected changes in statutory reserving requirements for certain products and
certain reinsurance arrangements we initiated. Results for 2004 also include a decline in recovery of costs of our agency
distribution system associated with the distribution of property and casualty insurance products, due to our sale of the
property and casualty business in late 2003.

Results of the segment’s individual annuity business for 2004 included adjusted operating income of $242 million from
the operations of American Skandia, compared to $167 million in 2003, which included the results of these operations for
only the last eight months of the year. Adjusted operating income of $242 million for 2004 consisted of revenues of $741
million and total benefits and expenses of $499 million. American Skandia’s revenues in 2004 consisted primarily of policy
charges and fee income of $413 million, asset management and service fees of $212 million and net investment income of
$91 million. Benefits and expenses consisted primarily of general and administrative expenses of $297 million, including $30
million from the amortization of the value of business acquired asset established when the company was acquired, interest
credited to policyholder account balances of $80 million and policyholder benefits, including related change in reserves, of
$93 million.

Adjusted operating income of the segment’s individual annuity business, excluding American Skandia, increased $90
million, from $95 million in 2003 to $185 million in 2004. The increase in adjusted operating income came primarily from
improved net interest spread on our general account annuities reflecting improved investment yields, reductions of credited
interest rates effective as of January 1, 2004, as well as higher asset balances, and higher fees resulting from greater variable
annuity account values. Increased amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs reflecting the higher level of gross profits
partially offset the foregoing factors. Adjusted operating income for 2004 and 2003 included reductions in amortization of
deferred policy acquisition costs of $44 million and $39 million, respectively, due to our increased estimate of future gross
profits on variable annuities reflecting market value increases in underlying assets as well as continued favorable mortality
and lapse experience, which amount for 2003 was largely offset by a $36 million charge to strengthen reserves for our
periodic income annuities.

2003 to 2002 Annual Comparison. The segment’s individual life business adjusted operating income decreased $75
million, from $432 million in 2002 to $357 million in 2003. The decline was primarily the result of claims experience, net of
reinsurance, less favorable than in the prior year, partially offset by the favorable impact of increases in the market value of
variable life insurance assets.

Results of the segment’s individual annuity business for 2003 included adjusted operating income of $167 million from
the initial eight months of our ownership of the operations of American Skandia, which consisted of revenues of $416
million and total benefits and expenses of $249 million. American Skandia’s revenues consisted primarily of policy charges
and fee income of $242 million and asset management and service fees of $126 million. Benefits and expenses consisted
primarily of general and administrative expenses of $200 million, including $38 million of amortization of the value of
business acquired asset established when the company was acquired and $35 million of guaranteed minimum death benefit
payments.

Adjusted operating income of the segment’s individual annuity business, excluding American Skandia, increased $137
million, from a loss, on an adjusted operating income basis, of $42 million in 2002 to income of $95 million in 2003.
Adjusted operating income for 2003 included a $39 million reduction in amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs due
to our increased estimate of future gross profits on variable annuities reflecting market value increases in underlying assets.
This benefit to adjusted operating income was largely offset by a $36 million charge to strengthen reserves for our periodic
income annuities. Results for 2002 included charges totaling $137 million for additional amortization of deferred policy
acquisition costs, reflecting our lower estimates of future gross profits resulting from greater expected costs from minimum
death benefit guarantees and lower expected fees under individual annuity contracts due to declines in asset values.

Revenues

2004 to 2003 Annual Comparison. The segment’s individual life insurance business reported revenues, as shown in
the table above under “—Operating Results,” of $2.125 billion in 2004, compared to $1.936 billion in 2003. Commissions
and other income increased $141 million, primarily reflecting an increase in revenue from the distribution of property and
casualty insurance products by our agents, which was more than offset by a related increase in operating expenses, including
agent commissions. Premiums increased $23 million, primarily due to increased premiums on term life insurance reflecting
growth of our in force block of term insurance products.
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Revenues from the segment’s individual annuity business increased $432 million, from $1.146 billion in 2003 to $1.578
billion in 2004, which included increased revenues of $325 million from American Skandia. Revenues of the segment’s
individual annuity business, excluding American Skandia, increased $107 million, from $730 million in 2003 to $837 million
in 2004, due primarily to a $71 million increase in net investment income, reflecting a higher level of invested assets, as well
as increased yields. In addition, policy charges and fees increased $36 million, reflecting an increase in the average market
value of variable annuity customer accounts.

2003 to 2002 Annual Comparison. The segment’s individual life insurance business revenues decreased $16 million,
from $1.952 billion in 2002 to $1.936 billion 2003. Premiums decreased $43 million, from $395 million in 2002 to $352
million in 2003, reflecting approximately $80 million in decreased premiums on term insurance we issued under policy
provisions to customers who previously had lapsing variable life insurance policies with us, partially offset by increased sales
and growth of our in force block of term insurance products.

Revenues from the segment’s individual annuity business increased $402 million, from $744 million in 2002 to $1.146
billion in 2003, which included revenues of $416 million from American Skandia. Revenues of the segment’s individual
annuity business, excluding American Skandia, declined $14 million, from $744 million in 2002 to $730 million in 2003, due
primarily to an $18 million decrease in policy charges and fees as, despite a year to year increase, the average market value
of variable annuity customer accounts declined in 2003 from 2002.

Benefits and Expenses

2004 to 2003 Annual Comparison. Benefits and expenses, as shown in the table above under “—Operating Results,”
of the segment’s individual life insurance business increased $156 million, from $1.579 billion in 2003 to $1.735 billion in
2004. The increase reflects a $176 million increase in operating expenses, including costs related to the distribution of
property and casualty insurance products discussed above. Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs increased $79
million from 2003 to 2004, reflecting a lower level of amortization in the prior year due to the strong equity market
performance and less favorable mortality experience in 2003. Partially offsetting these items was a decline in policyholder
benefits and related changes in reserves of $130 million, from $773 million in 2003 to $643 million in 2004, primarily due to
claims experience, net of reinsurance, being at a more favorable level than in the prior year.

Benefits and expenses of the segment’s individual annuity business increased $267 million, from $884 million in 2003
to $1.151 billion in 2004, which included increased benefits and expenses of $250 million related to American Skandia.
Benefits and expenses of the segment’s individual annuity business, excluding American Skandia, increased $17 million,
from $635 million in 2003 to $652 million in 2004. Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs increased $52 million,
primarily as a result of a higher level of gross profits in the current period. Partially offsetting this was the impact of a $36
million charge to strengthen reserves for our periodic income annuities in 2003.

2003 to 2002 Annual Comparison. Benefits and expenses of the segment’s individual life insurance business increased
$59 million, from $1.520 billion in 2002 to $1.579 billion in 2003. The increase reflects a $97 million increase in
policyholder benefits and related changes in reserves, from $676 million in 2002 to $773 million in 2003, as well as an
increase in employee termination and related costs. The increase in policyholder benefits and related changes in reserves
came primarily from claims experience, net of reinsurance, less favorable than the prior year, partially offset by decreased
policy reserves on term insurance, corresponding to the decreased premiums discussed above. Partially offsetting these
increases was a decrease in amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs, due primarily to less favorable claims
experience and lower policy surrenders.

Benefits and expenses of the segment’s individual annuity business increased $98 million, from $786 million in 2002 to
$884 million in 2003, which included $249 million of expenses related to American Skandia. Benefits and expenses of the
segment’s individual annuity business, excluding American Skandia, decreased $151 million, from $786 million in 2002 to
$635 million in 2003. Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs declined $178 million from 2002 to 2003, primarily
as a result of the changes in our estimated future gross profits as discussed above. Partially offsetting this was a $28 million
increase in policyholder benefits and related change in reserves, reflecting the $36 million charge to strengthen reserves for
our periodic income annuities discussed above, which resulted from refinements in our calculation of these reserves. Benefits
and expenses of our individual annuity business include $69 million of guaranteed minimum death benefits in 2003 of which
$35 million is associated with the American Skandia business.

Sales Results and Account Values

The following table sets forth individual life insurance business sales, as measured by scheduled premiums from new
sales on an annualized basis and first year excess premiums and deposits on a cash-received basis, and changes in account
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value for the individual annuity business, for the periods indicated. Sales of the individual life insurance business do not
correspond to revenues under GAAP. They are, however, a relevant measure of business activity. In managing our individual
life insurance business, we analyze new sales on this basis because it measures the current sales performance of the business,
while revenues primarily reflect the renewal persistency and aging of in force policies written in prior years and net
investment income as well as current sales. For our individual annuity business, assets are reported at account value, and net
sales (redemptions) are gross sales minus redemptions or surrenders and withdrawals, as applicable.

Year ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(in millions)

Life insurance sales(1):
Excluding corporate-owned life insurance:

Variable [ife .. ... .. $ 97 $ 99 §$ 145
Universal Tife . . ..ot e 178 132 86
Term LI e .o 116 110 89
Total excluding corporate-owned life INSUrANCe . . . ... ... ... .t e 391 341 320
Corporate-owned life INSUTANCE . . . .. ..ottt e e e e e e e e 14 21 122
1Y Y $ 405 $ 362 $§ 442
Life Insurance sales by distribution channel(1):
Prudential AZentsS(2) . . . ...ttt e e $ 236 $ 230 $ 238
Third Party(2) . . .o oottt e e e e 155 111 82
Corporate-owned life INSUTANCE . . . . . ... ottt e e e e e e 14 21 122
TOtal .ottt $ 405 $ 362 $§ 442
Variable Annuities(3):
Beginning total account Valle . . . . ... ..ot e $43,949 $15,338 $18,689
LS oo e 5,806 4,418 1,395
Surrenders and withdrawals . ... .. ... .. e (5,224)  (3,716)  (2,031)
Net sales (redempPUions) . . . ... ottt ettt e e e e e e 582 702 (636)
Benefit PAYMENLS . . . oottt et e e e e e e e e e e (613) (449) (273)
Nt FlOWS .ttt et e e e e e 31 253 (909)
Change in market value, interest credited and other activity . ............ ... i 4,091 6,329 (2,255)
POlicy Char@es . . .. ..o 591) 402) (187)
Acquisition of American SKandia .. ... ... — 22,431 —
Ending total account Valle .. ... ... ...t e $47,418 $43,949 $15,338
Fixed Annuities:
Beginning total account valle . . . ... ...ttt $ 3,514 $ 339 $ 2,975
SlES oo 532 247 605
Surrenders and withdrawals . .. ... ... . . (191) (141) (143)
Nt LS . oottt 341 106 462
Benefit payments .. ... ... (163) (162) (145)
Nt FlOWS .\ttt et e e e 178 (56) 317
Interest credited and other aCtiVity ... ... ... . . e 191 178 107
POlICY Char@es . . . oottt e 4) 4) 3)
Ending total acCount Value ... ... ...ttt $ 3,879 $ 3,514 $ 3,396

(1) Scheduled premiums from new sales on an annualized basis and first year excess premiums and deposits on a cash-received basis.

(2) Excluding corporate-owned life insurance.

(3) Variable annuities include only those sold as retail investment products. Investments through defined contribution plan products are included with such
products.

2004 to 2003 Annual Comparison. Sales of new life insurance, excluding corporate-owned life insurance, measured as
described above, increased $50 million from 2003 to 2004. Sales of our universal life products, which were updated as to
features and pricing in June 2003, increased $46 million.

Sales by Prudential Agents increased $6 million from 2003 to 2004, reflecting an increase in agent productivity that
more than offset a decline in the average number of agents from approximately 4,300 in 2003 to approximately 4,000 in
2004. Sales by the third party distribution channel, excluding corporate-owned life insurance, increased $44 million from
2003 to 2004, reflecting increased universal and term life sales through this distribution channel.
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Total account values for fixed and variable annuities amounted to $51.3 billion as of December 31, 2004, an increase of
$3.8 billion from December 31, 2003. The increase came primarily from increases in the market value of customers’ variable
annuities, as well as net sales of $923 million. Individual variable annuity gross sales increased by $1.4 billion, from $4.4
billion in 2003 to $5.8 billion in 2004, reflecting the inclusion of variable annuity sales from American Skandia for only the
last eight months of 2003. Fixed annuities gross sales increased by $285 million from 2003 to 2004, reflecting a new product
introduced in 2004. Surrenders and withdrawals increased $1.6 billion from 2003 to 2004, reflecting the additional period of
activity from American Skandia, as well as the impact of higher average account values.

2003 to 2002 Annual Comparison. Sales of new life insurance excluding corporate-owned life insurance, measured as
described above, increased $21 million from 2002 to 2003. Sales of our universal life and term life products, both of which
were updated as to features and pricing in 2003, increased $46 million and $21 million, respectively. These increases were
offset by a decline of $46 million in variable life sales, which were negatively affected by customer response to prolonged
volatile equity market conditions. Sales of corporate-owned life insurance, substantially all of which is sold by the third-party
distribution channel, declined by $101 million. The decline reflects primarily a single large sale in 2002.

Sales from Prudential Agents decreased slightly from 2002 to 2003, reflecting a decline in the average number of agents
for the period from approximately 4,500 in 2002 to approximately 4,300 in 2003 due to selective hiring of new agents and
closures of several offices to promote the cost effectiveness of the Prudential Agent distribution channel as well as some
attrition of agents resulting from the Company’s sale of its property and casualty insurance businesses in 2003. Sales by the
third party distribution channel, other than corporate-owned life insurance, increased $29 million from 2002 to 2003,
reflecting increased universal and term life sales through this channel.

Total account values for fixed and variable annuities amounted to $47.5 billion as of December 31, 2003, an increase of
$28.7 billion, which included $22.4 billion from the May 1, 2003 acquisition of American Skandia. The remainder of the
increase came primarily from increases in the market value of customers’ variable annuities as well as net sales of $808
million. Individual variable annuity gross sales increased by $3.0 billion, from $1.4 billion for 2002 to $4.4 billion for 2003,
primarily due to $2.5 billion in variable annuity sales contributed by American Skandia from the date of acquisition.
Excluding American Skandia, variable annuity gross sales increased by $528 million, driven by improving market
conditions, product enhancements, and continued expansion in third party distribution. Sales of fixed annuities declined year-
over-year by $358 million, due primarily to management’s decision to lower crediting rates in the current interest rate
environment. Surrenders and withdrawals increased $1.7 billion in 2003 from 2002, including $2.1 billion from American
Skandia, reflecting the larger base of business.

Policy Surrender Experience

The following table sets forth the individual life insurance business’s policy surrender experience for variable and
universal life insurance, measured by cash value of surrenders, for the periods indicated. These amounts do not correspond to
expenses under GAAP. In managing this business, we analyze the cash value of surrenders because it is a measure of the
degree to which policyholders are maintaining their in force business with us, a driver of future profitability. Our term life
insurance products do not provide for cash surrender values.

Year ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(in millions)
Cash value Of SUITENAETS . . . . ..ottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $633 $653 $692

Cash value of surrenders as a percentage of mean future benefit reserves, policyholders’ account balances, and separate
ACCOUNE DALANCES . . . oottt ettt e e e e e e e 3.3% 3.8% 4.2%

2004 to 2003 Annual Comparison.  The total cash value of surrenders decreased $20 million, from $653 million in
2003 to $633 million in 2004. The level of surrenders as a percentage of mean future policy benefit reserves, policyholders’
account balances and separate account balances decreased from 2003 to 2004, reflecting a lower level of surrenders in 2004

associated with increases in variable life insurance account values due to market performance.

2003 to 2002 Annual Comparison. The total cash value of surrenders decreased $39 million, from $692 million in
2002 to $653 million in 2003. The level of surrenders as a percentage of mean future policy benefit reserves, policyholders’
account balances and separate account balances decreased from 2002 to 2003, reflecting a higher level of lapses in 2002
associated with declines in variable life insurance account values due to adverse equity market conditions.
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Group Insurance

Operating Results

The following table sets forth the Group Insurance segment’s operating results for the periods indicated.

Year ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

(in millions)

Operating results:

REVEIUES .« . .ottt t ettt e e et e e e e e e e e e e $3,8067  $3,600  $3,586

Benefits and eXPEeNSEs . . . ..o v .t e e e e e 3,693 3,521 3,431

Adjusted OPerating iNCOMIE . . . ... ..ttt ettt ettt et ettt e e e e e e e e e e e 174 169 155
Realized investment gains (losses), net, and related adjustments(1) ........ ... ... ... .. .. 43 (52) (129)

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes, extraordinary gain on acquisition and cumulative effect
of accounting Chan@e . . ... ...t e $ 217 $ 117 $ 26

(1) Revenues exclude realized investment gains (losses), net, and related adjustments. For a discussion of these items see “—Realized Investment Gains
and General Account Investments—Realized Investment Gains.”

Adjusted Operating Income

2004 to 2003 Annual Comparison. Adjusted operating income increased $5 million, from $169 million in 2003 to
$174 million in 2004. Adjusted operating income for 2003 included a net favorable effect of $8 million from refinements in
group life reserves for waiver of premium features and estimates of amounts due policyholders on experience rated cases.
Excluding these items, adjusted operating income increased $13 million primarily due to more favorable mortality
experience in our group life insurance business which was partially offset by less favorable claims experience in our group
disability business and costs related to legal and regulatory matters that were incurred during 2004.

2003 to 2002 Annual Comparison. Adjusted operating income increased $14 million, from $155 in 2002 to $169
million in 2003. Adjusted operating income for 2003 included a net favorable effect of $8 million from refinements in group
life reserves for waiver of premium features and estimates of amounts due policyholders on experience rated cases, as
discussed above, while 2002 benefited $19 million from refinements in reserves relating to our group long-term disability
product. Excluding the $11 million net negative impact of these refinements, adjusted operating income increased $25
million in 2003 from 2002, reflecting more favorable group life benefits experience in 2003 and a greater contribution from
investment results.

Revenues

2004 to 2003 Annual Comparison. Revenues, as shown in the table above under “—Operating Results,” increased by
$177 million, from $3.690 billion in 2003 to $3.867 billion in 2004. Group life insurance premiums increased by $73 million
to $2.249 billion, primarily due to growth in business in force resulting from new sales and continued strong persistency,
which improved slightly from 93% in 2003 to 94% in 2004. Group disability premiums, which include long-term care
products, increased by $46 million to $676 million, also reflecting growth in business in force resulting from new sales and
continued strong persistency, which improved slightly from 85% in 2003 to 86% in 2004. The increase in premiums also
reflects the negative effect in 2003 of a $9 million increase in our estimate of amounts due policyholders on experience rated
cases, as discussed above. Policy charges and fee income increased by $80 million, which includes the negative effect in
2003 of a $17 million increase in our estimate of amounts due policyholders on experience rated cases, as discussed above.
Excluding the effect of this refinement, policy charges and fee income increased by $63 million, primarily reflecting higher
charges and fees on experienced rated contracts sold to employers for funding of employee benefit programs and retirement
arrangements. Partially offsetting these increases was a decrease in net investment income of $24 million, due primarily to a
decrease in income from policyholder loans. The decrease in income from policyholder loans reflects reductions in the
balances of these loans, which also results in a corresponding decline in interest credited to policyholders’ account balances.

2003 to 2002 Annual Comparison. Revenues increased by $104 million, from $3.586 billion in 2002 to $3.690 billion
in 2003. Group life insurance premiums increased by $81 million to $2.176 billion primarily due to growth in business in
force resulting from new sales and continued strong persistency, which declined slightly from 95% in 2002 to 93% in 2003.
Group disability premiums, which include long-term care products, increased by $56 million to $630 million reflecting the
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growth in business in force resulting from new sales and continued strong persistency, which decreased slightly from 87% in
2002 to 85% in 2003. These increases in premiums were partially offset by a $9 million increase in our estimate of amounts
due policyholders on experience rated cases, as discussed above. Policy charges and fee income declined by $42 million
primarily as a result of a $17 million increase in our estimate of amounts due policyholders on experience rated cases, as
discussed above, and lower fees on experience rated contracts sold to employers for funding of employee benefit programs
and retirement arrangements. Although net investment income was relatively unchanged in 2003 from 2002, the portion of
this income from policyholder loans declined, with a corresponding decline in interest credited to policyholders’ account
balances, which resulted in a greater contribution from investment results to adjusted operating income in 2003, as the
remaining base of invested assets increased.

Benefits and Expenses

The following table sets forth the Group Insurance segment’s benefits and administrative operating expense ratios for
the periods indicated.

Year ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Benefits ratio(1):
Group e . ..o 88.4% 90.9% 91.7%
Group disability . . ... .o e 94.6 924 879
Administrative operating expense ratio(2):
Group e . ..o 10.9 9.7 10.0
Group disability . . ... .o e 22.1 225 220

(1) Ratio of policyholder benefits to earned premiums, policy charges and fee income. Group disability ratios include long-term care products.
(2) Ratio of administrative operating expenses (excluding commissions) to gross premiums, policy charges and fee income. Group disability ratios include
long-term care products.

2004 to 2003 Annual Comparison. Benefits and expenses, as shown in the table above under “—Operating Results,”
increased by $172 million, from $3.521 billion in 2003 to $3.693 billion in 2004. The increase was primarily driven by an
increase of $133 million in policyholders’ benefits, including the change in policy reserves, which reflects a $34 million
reduction in benefits in 2003 due to refinements in group life reserves for waiver of premium features, as discussed above,
the unfavorable effect of an increase in the group disability benefits ratio and the growth of business in force. Also
contributing to the increase in benefits and expenses was an increase of $63 million in operating expenses as a result of
growth in the business, premium taxes associated with the increased revenues related to contracts for funding of employee
benefit and retirement programs, and costs related to legal and regulatory matters that were incurred during 2004. Partially
offsetting the increases in benefits and expenses was a $31 million decrease in interest credited to policyholders’ account
balances, primarily as a result of the decrease in outstanding policyholder loans discussed above.

The group life benefits ratio for 2004 decreased 2.5 percentage points from 2003, primarily reflecting more favorable
claims experience. The group disability benefits ratio increased by 2.2 percentage points from 2003 to 2004 due to less
favorable claims experience in our group disability business, primarily due to a decrease in net claim resolutions on our long-
term disability products. In the later part of 2004, we expanded our claims resolution capacity for these products. The group
life administrative operating expense ratio increased from 2003 to 2004 primarily due to the increases in premium taxes and
legal and regulatory costs discussed above. The group disability administrative operating expense decreased slightly from
2003 to 2004.

2003 to 2002 Annual Comparison. Benefits and expenses increased by $90 million, from $3.431 billion in 2002 to
$3.521 billion in 2003. Benefits in 2003 were reduced $34 million as a result of the refinements in group life reserves for
waiver of premium features discussed above, while 2002 benefited $19 million from reduction in benefits due to the
refinement in reserves relating to our group long-term disability product. Excluding these items, benefits and expenses
increased $105 million. This increase resulted principally from an increase in policyholders’ benefits, including change in
policy reserves, reflecting the growth of business in force.

The group life benefits ratio for 2003 improved 0.8 percentage points from 2002 reflecting lower claims incidence. The
group disability benefits ratio increased by 4.5 percentage points, of which 3.2 percentage points resulted from the reserve
refinement in 2002 discussed above. The remaining 1.3 percentage point increase in the group disability benefits ratio is
primarily due to a decrease in net claim resolutions on our long-term disability products, partially offset by favorable
morbidity experience on our other disability products. The group life and disability administrative operating expense ratios
remained relatively unchanged from 2002 to 2003.
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Sales Results

The following table sets forth the Group Insurance segment’s new annualized premiums for the periods indicated. In
managing our group insurance business, we analyze new annualized premiums, which do not correspond to revenues under
GAAP, because new annualized premiums measure the current sales performance of the business unit, while revenues
primarily reflect the renewal persistency and aging of in force policies written in prior years and net investment income, in
addition to current sales.

Year ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(in millions)

New annualized premiums(1):

Group Life . ..o $237 $225 $269
Group diSability(2) . . o oottt e e e e e e 161 144 160
TOLAL © oottt $398 $369 $429

(1) Amounts exclude new premiums resulting from rate changes on existing policies, from additional coverage under our Servicemembers’ Group Life
Insurance contract and from excess premiums on group universal life insurance that build cash value but do not purchase face amounts, and include
premiums from the takeover of claim liabilities.

(2) Includes long-term care products.

2004 to 2003 Annual Comparison. Total new annualized premiums increased $29 million, or 8%, from 2003 to 2004.
Group life sales increased in 2004 primarily due to an increase in sales in the large case market. Group disability sales
increased in 2004 primarily due to additional sales to existing customers, mostly in the large case market.

2003 to 2002 Annual Comparison. Total new annualized premiums decreased $60 million, or 14%, from 2002 to
2003. Group life sales decreased in 2003 due primarily to a smaller contribution from large case sales in 2003 as well as the
expected slowing of our sales due to the implementation of pricing adjustments in 2002. Group disability sales decreased in
2003, primarily reflecting one large sale in the fourth quarter of 2002.

Investment Division
Asset Management
Operating Results

The following table sets forth the Asset Management segment’s operating results for the periods indicated.

Year ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

(in millions)

Operating results:

REVENUES . . .ot $1,464  $1,360  $1,325
BXPOIISES . oottt e 1,198 1,152 1,141
Adjusted Operating iNCOME . . ... ...ttt ettt et e et e e e e e e e e e e 266 208 184
Realized investment gains, NEL(1) . ... ...t 8 5 64
Income from continuing operations before income taxes, extraordinary gain on acquisition and cumulative effect of
ACCOUNLNG ChANZE . . . ...ttt $ 274 $ 213 $§ 248

(1) Revenues exclude realized investment gains (losses), net. For a discussion of these items see “—Realized Investment Gains and General Account
Investments—Realized Investment Gains.”

Adjusted Operating Income

2004 to 2003 Annual Comparison. Adjusted operating income increased $58 million, from $208 million in 2003 to
$266 million in 2004, which includes $31 million from the management of assets associated with the retirement business
acquired from CIGNA. Results for 2004 benefited from higher asset-based fees in our investment management and advisory
services reflecting market appreciation and positive net inflows, as well as improved results in our other asset management
activities. Partially offsetting these items were charges in 2004 totaling $28 million related to declines in value of intangible
assets, expenses incurred in exiting an operating facility and termination of activities related to certain of our international
investment management operations.
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2003 to 2002 Annual Comparison. Adjusted operating income increased $24 million, from $184 million in 2002 to
$208 million in 2003. The increase reflected lower expenses, excluding the impact of recent acquisitions, and higher asset-
based fees in our investment management and advisory operations, which were partially offset by a decline in retained fees
as a result of the combination of our retail securities brokerage and clearing operations with those of Wachovia.

Revenues

The following tables set forth the Asset Management segment’s revenues, presented on a basis consistent with the table
above under “—Operating Results,” by source and assets under management for the periods indicated. In managing our
business we analyze assets under management, which do not correspond to GAAP assets, because our primary sources of
revenues are fees based on assets under management.

Year ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

(in millions)

Revenues by source:
Investment management and advisory services:

Retail customers(1) . ..ot e e e $ 219 $ 187 $ 184
INSUtIONAl CUSLOMETS . . o . oottt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 442 372 335
GENEral ACCOUNL . . . .\ ottt ettt ettt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 234 219 221
SUD-LOtAl . ..o e 895 778 740
Mutual fund and other sSegment TEVENUES(2) . .. . oottt ettt et e e e e e e e e 569 582 585
TOtAl TEVENUES . . o o o et et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $1,464  $1,360  $1,325

(1) Consists of individual mutual funds and both variable annuities and variable life insurance asset management revenues from our separate accounts. This
also includes funds invested in proprietary mutual funds through our defined contribution plan products. Revenues from fixed annuities and the fixed
rate options of both variable annuities and variable life insurance are included in the general account.

(2) Represents mutual fund and other segment revenues other than asset management fees paid to affiliates, which are included in the appropriate categories
above.

December 31, December 31,
2004 2003

(in billions)

Assets under management (at fair market value):

Retail Customers(1) . . ...ttt e e $ 66.0 $ 81.2
Institutional CUSTOMETS(2) . . . o\ vttt et e et e e e e e e e e e e e e s 119.2 94.8
General aCCOUNL(3) . . .o\ttt 152.7 127.8

Total investment management and adViSOTY SEIVICES . . ..ot vt vttt et ettt e e e et et e e $337.9 $303.8

(1) Consists of individual mutual funds, including investments in our mutual funds through wrap-fee pro